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This is the second discipline case against respondent, both of which emanate from his 

conduct as attorney for the plaintiffs in two whistleblower cases against the City of Detroit and 

former Mayor Kilpatrick (Brown andNelthrope v Detroit and Harris v Detroit). The general factual 

background for this and other discipline cases arising from the settlement of those civil cases is 

generally well-known. The hearing panel in this case has written comprehensive and thoughtful 

reports on misconduct and discipline and the factual findings are set forth in those reports, which we 

append to this opinion. The panel found that respondent's conduct in settling the whistleblower 

cases violated MRPC 4.1 (prohibiting knowingly false and material statements of fact to a third 

person in the course of representing a client) by virtue of statements and omissions during his 

negotiations with attorney Samuel McCargo with respect to efforts of the parties to maintain the 

confidentiality of text messages between Mayor Kilpatrick and Chief of Staff Christine Beatty. 

(Three other charges regarding allegedly false statements were dismissed.) By a two-to-one decision, 

the hearing panel determined that a reprimand was the appropriate sanction. The panel chairperson, 

dissenting, would have imposed a suspension of 90 days, with credit for the 30-day suspension 

imposed in respondent's prior matter. We find no error in the majority's report on discipline, but, 

in the exercise of our independent judgment on review of a sanctions decision, we conclude that a 
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suspension is warranted and will impose a suspension of 30 days under the circumstances of this 

case. While the net result will not entail an actual suspension given the petitioner's concession that 

30 days should be credited toward any suspension imposed in this case in light of the prior 

proceedings and sanction, we nonetheless consider it important to discuss and declare the appropriate 

level of discipline for misconduct of this nature. 

I. 	 Did the Hearing Panel Err in Denying Respondent's Motion for Summary Disposition 
under MCR 2.U6(C)(7) Asserting that this Proceeding was Barred by Stefani I? 

Before addressing the appropriate level ofdiscipline, we must decide a preliminary question. 

Respondent contends on cross-review that the panel erred in denying his motion for partial summary 

disposition, pursuant to MCR 2.1 16(C)(7), arguing that various allegations in the formal complaint 

here (including those supporting the panel's findings of misconduct) were barred by the decision in 

Grievance Administrator v Michael L. Stefani, 09-47-GA (HP misconduct report dated 3/212010; 

discipline report and order of reprimand dated 612312010), afrd as modified regarding discipline 

(ADB 2011), Iv den 490 Mich 897 (2011) ("Stefani 1"). We review the panel's denial of summary 

disposition on these grounds de novo.'For several reasons, we conclude that the panel committed 

no error in denying the motion. 

A. 	 Procedural Background in Stefani I - Petitioner's Attempt to Join the Claims 
Herein with Those Initially Pleaded in Stefani I and the Stefani I Panel's Denial 
of Petitioner's Motion to Supplement Without Addressing the Merits of the 
Claims. 

The formal complaint in Stefani I was filed on May 19, 2009, and alleged three types of 

misconduct by the respondent: (1) knowingly violating a court rule by issuing a subpoena duces 

tecum to a telecommunications company for text messages without notifying opposing counsel and 

violating a court order by not making the documents produced returnable to the court, contrary to 

MRPC 3.4(c); (2) violating MRPC 8.3 by not reporting the misconduct of the former Mayor 

(perjury); and (3) violating the criminal law by compounding or concealing a crime through entering 

into the confidentiality agreement(s) relating to the text messages which were produced to 

respondent and used in the negotiations to resolve the Brown and Nelthrope, and Harris cases. 

Misconduct was ultimately found only as to the first charges. 

, Washington v Sinai Hospital a/Greater Detroit, 478 Mich412, 417; 733 NW2d 755 (2007); Grievance 
Administrator v Wilson A. Copeland, II, 09-48-GA (ADB 2011). 
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The formal complaint in this case alleges that "on various dates after October 10, 2007, 

[respondent] made evasive, misleading and false statements in order to conceal his disclosure ofthe 

text messages to the Detroit Free Press.,,2 Four contexts are identified: (1) during negotiations with 

Mr. McCargo in BrowniNelthrope and Harris; (2) during Freedom ofInformation Act litigation; (3) 

during a hearing before City Council; and (4) during respondent's testimony in Grievance 

Administrator v Samuel E. McCargo, ADB Case No. 09-50-GA. The panel found that respondent 

violated MRPC 4.1 in the first context only. (The panel was unanimous, except as to the testimony 

during the McCargo hearing. Chairperson McGraw would have found misconduct there too. Also, 

panel member Dunn would not have found any of the catchall rule violations in the first context. 3) 

Petitioner sought to include these essential charges in Stefani I after learning that respondent 

might admit to having provided the Detroit Free Press with copies of the text messages. Prior to 

that, in other forums or settings, respondent had declined to answer questions about how the Free 

Press obtained the text messages and did not admit that he had provided the newspaper with a copy. 

The Administrator first learned that respondent might admit he gave the text messages to the Free 

Press in a telephone call from respondent's counsel on September 24, 2009, during which a proposed 

consent resolution of Stefani I was discussed.4 

2 Formal Complaint, p 3, -U IS. 

3 The panel majority of Mr. McGraw and Ms. Heard-Longstreet found that respondent's negotiations 
violated not only MRPC 4.1, but also MRPC 8.4(b) (dishonesty) and (c) (conduct prejudicial to the administration 
ofjustice) as well as MCR 9.104(A)(I)-(3). 

4 The Deputy Administrator wrote to respondent's counsel the following day a letter stating in part: 

Yesterday you called me to explore a possible consent resolution. I agreed, at your 
request, that our discussion was covered by MRE 408, and that your statements would 
not be admissible against your client in [Stefani 1] in the event an agreement could not 
be reached. 

You then informed me during that discussion that your client was prepared, as part 
of a consent resolution, to admit that he personally provided the text messages to the 
Detroit Free Press prior to the settlement ofthe Whistleblower lawsuit on October 17, 
2007. 

* * * 
If your client testifies during his misconduct hearing that he was the person who 

leaked the messages, then I will move under MCR 2.118(C) to amend the formal 
complaint to conform to the evidence by adding charges of misconduct under, for 
example, MRPC 4.1 and 4.4. I believe this "wait and see" approach satisfies MRE 408 
with respect to your client's case. 
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The hearing commenced on October 8, 2009, two weeks after the settlement discussions 

between counsel. Respondent was the first witness, and on direct examination he did in fact testify 

that he gave a copy of the texts to the Free Press. In keeping with the intention announced in his 

letter, the Deputy Administrator immediately requested that the panel recess to allow him to amend 

the formal complaint. Respondent's counsel objected to the continuance and asked the panel to 

proceed. Before deciding to adjourn and receive a motion from the Administrator, the panel engaged 

counsel in a colloquy regarding the degree to which the new claims would be factually related to the 

existing claims. Petitioner urged the efficiency of trying the claims or charges together and 

expressed concerns that res judicata arguments would be raised should the motion not be granted. 5 

The hearing on October 8, 2009, was adjourned and the Administrator filed a motion to 

supplement the formal complaint pursuant to MCR 2.119(E). On October 26,2009, the panel heard 

oral argument on the motion, during which the Administrator expressed concern that there was "an 

effort to have it both ways. Can't do it here, according to respondent, and can't do it there in a new 

request for investigation and formal complaint.,,6 Panel member Baiers stated: 

I certainly don't think the Grievance Administrator in any way sat on 
its rights in filing these new charges, because really, until October 8th 

5 In the course ofthe colloquy a panel member posed a question which elicited the following exchange: 

MR. BAlERS: I still don't see, it's not the same set offacts. 

MR. EDICK: It is. 

MR. MOG ILL: Of course it's not the same set of facts. 

MR. BAlERS: I don't see why the Attorney Grievance Commission couldn't then 


now open a new investigation, file new charges based on perjury in prior statements he's 
made to the Attorney Grievance Commission or in prior hearings and charge him with 
discipline under that. That's not the same set of facts. He's being charged now with 
violating a court order, compounding a felony, and failing to report misconduct of 
another attorney. The fact that his testimony may later give rise to some sort ofperjury, 
I think that's something that the Commission needs to investigate and decide ifthey want 
to charge. 

* * * 
MR. EDICK: ... I think that it would be more appropriate for this panel, rather than 

taking a chance that a subsequent investigation would be met with objections along the 
lines of res judicata or collateral estoppel -­

MR. MOGILL: Or splitting the cause of action. 
MR. EDICK: Thank you. So we can take it for granted that there would be those 

objections raised in light ofthe very serious change in testimony that was entirely within 
the control of Mr. Stefani. That judicial efficiency would require that we resolve that 
issue within these proceedings even if it requires a short continuance. [Stefani I Tr 
10/8/2009, pp 120-121.] 

6 Stefani I Tr 10/26/2009, p 7. 
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when Mr. Stefani took the stand under oath, you didn't know for 
certain what he was going to say. So, I don't see how you can be 
accused of sitting on your rights. [Stefani I, Tr 10/26/2009, p 13.] 

At the conclusion of the hearing on the motion, the panel retired to deliberate and, upon 

returning to the bench, the Chairperson announced the panel's decision to deny leave to file a 

supplemental formal complaint without addressing the merits ofthe proposed supplemental claims.7 

Following oral argument, the panel entered an order denying the motion, and stating, in part: 

Having carefully considered petitioner's motion, we are not 
persuaded that supplementation ofthe formal complaint as sought by 
petitioner in this particular instance would be in the interest ofjustice, 
that adjudicative economy or convenience would necessarily be 
served, or that the addition of these new charges at this point in these 
proceedings is otherwise appropriate. In addition, we conclude that 
granting leave to allow the amendment or supplementation of the 
formal complaint requested by petitioner under the circumstances in 
this case would be tantamount to abrogating significant portions of 
MCR 9.112 - 9.114 which deal with the investigation and processing 
ofallegations ofmisconduct prior to the filing ofa formal complaint. 
Accordingly, we decline to allow the supplementation of the formal 
complaint. [November 2, 2009 Order Denying Motion to 
Supplement Formal Complaint in Stefani 1.] 

The hearing resumed on November 18, 2009, and continued on two additional days, and, 

ultimately, the hearing panel found misconduct as to one of the three charges. As noted above, the 

panel imposed a reprimand. On review, the Board increased discipline to a suspension of 30 days. 

Stefani I. 

The formal complaint in this matter was filed on October 7, 2010. Respondent filed a 

motion for partial summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(7) on November 30,2010. The motion 

was denied for the following reasons given by the panel in this case: 

7 [F)or the reasons that we will place in a written order, we are going to deny the 
motion to - petitioner's motion to supplement the formal complaint. 

We'd like to clarifY a few things for the record, however. The panel is not 
taking a position on the merits of the proposed amended claim or charges, 
nor are we directing the parties in any matter about what procedural steps may 
be available to them at this time in terms of further action by either the 
administrator or the respondent. The issue then is more of a housekeeping 
issue, that is, I know that it's in everyone's interest to move this proceeding 
along. . .. [Tr 10/26/2009, p 36 (emphasis added).] 
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The panel is not moved to accept the categorical application or 
rejection of res judicata principles urged by either party. We are 
persuaded, however, that the policy underlying the principle is not 
well applied to this case as it has developed; and that to rule in 
respondent's favor on that basis alone will not serve the process to 
which the parties were subjected in a prior proceeding. In other 
words, the better interest of the disciplinary process in this case is 
served by having respondent's whole conduct considered on its 
merits. [February 3, 2011 Order Denying Respondent's Motion for 
Partial Summary Disposition.] 

B. Analysis - This Proceeding is not Barred by Stefani 1. 

Respondent argues that because "the allegations ofmisconduct at issue arose out ofthe same 

transaction for which respondent has already been prosecuted, MCR 2.203(A) and 9.115(A) 

precluded petitioner from subsequently prosecuting respondent for this alleged misconduct." 

As noted above, the Administrator had filed a motion to supplement the formal complaint 

in Stefani I, but respondent opposed the filing of a supplemental complaint on various grounds. 

Respondent now contends that the attempt to supplement in Stefani I came too late. Respondent also 

contends that because no specific court rule excepts MCR 2.203(A) from applying in discipline 

proceedings, the panel in this case erred in denying his motion for summary disposition under MCR 

2.1 16(C)(7). We conclude that the panel's denial of summary disposition in this case was correct. 

The compulsory joinder rule, MCR 2.203(A), was adopted to facilitate the operation of the 

common law doctrine of res judicata.8 Our Supreme Court has said: 

The doctrine of res judicata is employed to prevent multiple suits 
litigating the same cause of action. The doctrine bars a second, 
subsequent action when (1) the prior action was decided on the 
merits, (2) both actions involve the same parties or their privies, and 
(3) the matter in the second case was, or could have been, resolved in 
the first. Sewell v Clean Cut Mgmt, Inc, 463 Mich 569, 575; 621 
NW2d 222 (2001). This Court has taken a broad approach to the 
doctrine of res judicata, holding that it bars not only claims already 
litigated, but also every claim arising from the same transaction that 
the parties, exercising reasonable diligence, could have raised but did 
not. Dart v Dart, 460 Mich 573, 586; 597 NW2d 82 (1999). 
[Washington v Sinai Hospital, 478 Mich 412,418; 733 NW2d 755 
(2007).] 

8 Staff Comment to 1998 Amendment to MCR 2.203(A). 



Grievance Administrator v Michael L. Stefani, Case No.1 0-113-GA -- Board Opinion Page 7 

"The goal of res judicata is to promote fairness."9 It is a "judicially created" doctrine 

intended to "'relieve parties of the cost and vexation of multiple lawsuits, conserve judicial 

resources, and, by preventing inconsistent decisions, encourage reliance on adjudication."'10 And, 

it must not be applied when to do so would subvert the intent of the legislature, or, in this instance, 

the Supreme Court. 11 

Assuming the claims here arise out of the same transaction (a point about which the panel 

in Stefani I seemed to have some question), this proceeding is not barred by res judicata for several 

reasons. First, petitioner could not litigate the claims because the panel exercised its discretion and 

decided not to hold the hearing on the initial claims in abeyance while the proposed supplemental 

claims dealing with statements regarding the whereabouts of the text messages and who delivered 

copies to the Free Press were appropriately brought before a panel. Petitioner's attempt to amend 

and/or supplement the complaint was undertaken promptly. The Stefani I panel said as much, and, 

in denying the motion to supplement the formal complaint, specifically indicated that it was not 

rendering a decision on the merits of petitioner's proposed supplemental complaint. Accordingly, 

the claims are not barred. See Martin v Michigan Consolidated Gas Co, 114 Mich App 380; 319 

NW2d 352 (1982) (denial ofa motion to amend is not a decision on the merits precluding the claims 

from being raised in a subsequent suit unless denial was on the basis of futility). Moreover, other 

comments by the panel, and the panel's written order, make it clear that the panel did not believe that 

petitioner would be precluded from initiating an investigation and commencing formal proceedings 

(such as this one) regarding the charges in the supplemental complaint. 

Further, we agree with the Administrator's argument that MCR 9.115(A) does not require 

the application ofres judicata in this case. In addition to the reasons discussed above for concluding 

that this proceeding is not barred, the procedures for investigating and charging misconduct set forth 

in subchapter 9.100 and identified by the Stefani I panel illustrate some of the differences between 

ordinary civil proceedings and discipline proceedings. And, although it may have been possible for 

the panel to have adjourned the hearing to enable the Administrator and Commission to expedite 

consideration of the new potential allegations of misconduct so that the request for investigation 

9 Pierson Sand & Gravel, Inc v Keeler Brass Co, 460 Mich 372, 383 (1999). 

10 Pierson Sand & Gravel, 460 Mich at 380. 

11 Bennett v Mackinac Bridge Authority, 289 Mich App 616,630 (2010), Iv den 489 Mich 858 (2011). 
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could have been processed as quickly as possible in accordance with subchapter 9.100, we do not 

find that the failure to do this prejudiced the respondent any more than it did the Administrator who 

urged supplementation and joinder of the new allegations of misconduct over respondent's 

successful objections. 

Finally, these proceedings, though civil in nature, are significantly different than, say, a suit 

over a promissory note or even a legal malpractice action. The purpose of attorney discipline 

proceedings is not primarily punishment or compensation for loss by a client, but to protect the 

public, the courts and the legal profession. MCR 9.1 05(A). And our Supreme Court has specifically 

declared that: "Subchapter 9.100 is to be liberally construed for the protection of the public, the 

courts, and the legal profession." MCR 9.1 02(A). The Court has further provided that: "An 

investigation or proceeding may not be held invalid because of a nonprejudicial irregularity or an 

error not resulting in a miscarriage ofjustice." M CR 9.1 07(A). Therefore, we find the result reached 

by the panel in this case (denying respondent's motion for summary disposition on res judicata 

grounds) to be correct and the rationale it employed to be insightful. 

For all of the foregoing reasons, we find no error in the panel's decision that the doctrine of 

res judicata does not bar this discipline prosecution. Nor do we believe that this second proceeding 

is unfair to respondent under these circumstances. 

II. 	 Did the Hearing Panel Err in Applying the American Bar Association Standards for 
Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and Impose Insufficient Discipline? 

The Administrator has petitioned for review, arguing that the hearing panel applied the 

incorrect ABA Standard and, therefore, imposed inadequate discipline. Neither party challenges the 

panel's findings and conclusions with respect to misconduct. As we have recently stated: 

The standard of review for the Attorney Discipline Board's 
review ofa hearing panel's decision recognizes that while the Board 
is to determine whether or not there is evidentiary support for a 
panel's findings, the Board has greater discretion in its review of the 
panel's final result, in this case, the appropriate level of discipline. 
Grievance Administrator v August, 438 Mich 296,304; 475 NW2d 
256 (1991). This greater discretion to review and, if necessary, 
modify a hearing panel's decision as to the level of discipline, is 
based, in part, upon a recognition of the Board's overview function 
and its responsibility to ensure a level of uniformity and continuity. 
Matter ofDaggs, 411 Mich 304; 307 NW2d 66 (1981). [Grievance 
Administrator v Brent S. Hunt, 12-1O-GA (ADB 2012), P 7.] 
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The panel found that respondent violated MRPC 4.1 (Truthfulness in Statements to Others) 

in the course ofnegotiating the settlement, including confidentiality provisions, in BrownlNelthrope 

v City ofDetroit and Harris v City ofDetroit by leading or allowing defense counsel to believe that 

the confidentiality of the text messages between Kilpatrick and Beatty could be assured when, in 

fact, respondent had already delivered copies ofthe texts to a reporter at the Detroit Free Press (Jim 

Schaefer) and he was virtually certain that publication would occur. The hearing panel's report on 

misconduct notes the divergence in testimony as to whether respondent was asked, essentially, how 

many copies ofthe text messages existed and who had them, or whether he was asked "where are 

they?" The panel's report includes the following findings and conclusions: 

[I]t is not necessary to resolve this factual dispute, and we merely 
assume that the facts are as recited by Mr. Stefani. Mr. Stefani admits 
to being asked "we want the text messages, where are they, will you 
give them to us." [Tr 02/07111] at 128,200. Mr. Stefani responded 
that they could not have the text messages and that they needed an 
escrow agreement. As to the whereabouts of the text messages, Mr. 
Stefani told them there was a copy in his office safe, another in a safe 
at his house, and another copy on his desk. He did not disclose the 
copy that had been given to Mr. Schaefer. 

* * * 
Under these circumstances, Mr. Stefani's silence was equivalent to 
making a statement. We need not decide any other issue regarding a 
lawyer's obligation to disclose facts or information in connection with 
efforts to resolve a civil dispute. 

* * * 
Mr. Stefani also made statements to induce Mr. McCargo and 

others to believe that the confidentiality ofthe text messages could be 
maintained. The first question Mr. McCargo asked after seeing the 
excerpted text messages in the supplemental brief was whether the 
brief had been filed, id. at 120, and then, whether Mr. Stefani would 
be willing to hold off filing if permission for a global settlement 
could be obtained. Id. at 120-121. Mr. Stefani told him "I will not file 
it ifwe can resolve this thing, you know, I'll hold off." Id. at 121. Mr. 
Stefani admitted that he "maneuvered them into settling this case by 
letting them believe the text messages would be kept confidential" id. 
at 146, and that he knew defendants were bargaining for something 
they could not obtain. Id. at 225-226. He frankly admitted that 
"[t]here's no question that I let them believe one thing that wasn't 
accurate." Id. at 146. 

* * * 
In this Panel's view, the falsity ofthe statements made by Mr. 

Stefani is not a close question. We do not accept the fine line Mr. 



Grievance Administrator v Michael L. Stefani. Case No.1 0-113-GA -- Board Opinion Page 10 

Stefani seeks to draw between a question which asks "we want the 
text messages, where are theyll and questions which ask "where are 
all of the copies you made ll or "how many copies and where are 
they?" In our considered judgment, each is a reiteration of the same 
question and each is designed to elicit the same response. It is not 
reasonable to conclude that the first question (llwhere are theyll) did 
not require Mr. Stefani to disclose the disk in the possession of the 
Free Press, but a question which asks IIhow many copies and where 
are theyll would have elicited that information (as Mr. Stefani 
apparently argues). See e.g., id. at 225-226 (IINone ofthem ever asked 
Have you ever given them to somebody else? Or How many copies 
did you make? Where are all of the copies you made? They never 
asked that. "). 

* * * 
[W]e cannot logically conclude that the question IIwhere are theyll 
allowed Mr. Stefani to describe the location of some, but not all, of 
the text messages (and copies) that came into his possession. The 
question was not, IIwhere are some of the text messages II or "where 
are you keeping two or three copies of the text messages." IIWhere 
are theyll implies no limitation and his response would lead one to 
reasonably believe that he had accounted for all of the copies (there 
is a copy in my office safe, another in a safe at my home, and another 
copy on my desk). 

The statements Mr. Stefani made with respect to 
confidentiality were also false. Mr. Stefani knew to nearly a 100% 
certainty that the Free Press would publish the text messages, and 
that was clearly his intent. See id. at 106-107, 141, 197-198, 224. In 
fact, he believed that it was IInot ethical to settle the case" without 
having the information become public. Id. at 89. Negotiating with Mr. 
McCargo to maintain the confidentiality of the text messages when 
Mr. Stefani had already committed the text messages to public 
disclosure is by omission a false statement. [HP Report on 
Misconduct, pp 6, 12-14.] 

The panel sums up the elements ofthe rule in question: "To trigger a violation ofMRPC 4.1, 

a lawyer's statement must be material, false, knowing, and made in the course of representing a 

client.,,12 And it concludes: "we find that statements Mr. Stefani made to Mr. McCargo regarding 

the location of the text messages and their confidential status, as well as statements he knowingly 

omitted, violate the ... rules."l3 

12 Report on Misconduct, p 12. 

\3 Id. A majority of the panel found that respondent violated not only MRPC 4.1, but also MRPC 8.4(b) 
(dishonesty) and (c) (conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice) as well as MCR 9.104(A)(1)-(3). 
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After the panel issued its findings with respect to misconduct, the parties addressed the 

appropriate level of discipline. Petitioner argued for suspension under ABA Standard 6.12. 

Respondent argued that a reprimand was appropriate under Standard 6.13. 14 

The hearing panel's report on discipline reached the conclusion, by a 2-to-1 majority, that 

Standard 5.1 was applicable to the misconduct found in this matter and imposed a reprimand. The 

dissent would have applied Standard 6.1 and ordered a suspension, or, would have ordered a 

suspension even if Standard 5.1 was used as the starting point in the analysis. 15 

Dissenting panel member Dunn found only a violation of MRPC 4.1. 

14 Both standards are set forth under the rubric of Standard 6.1, which provides: 

6.1 False Statements, Fraud, and Misrepresentation 
Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, upon application of the factors set out in 

Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving conduct that 
is prejudicial to the administration of justice or that involves dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 
misrepresentation to a court: 

6.11 	 Disbarment is generally appropriate when a lawyer, with the intent to deceive the 
court, makes a false statement, submits a false document, or improperly withholds 
material information, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a party, or 
causes a significant or potentially significant adverse effect on the legal proceeding. 

6.12 	 Suspension is generally appropriate when a lawyer knows that false statements or 
documents are being submitted to the court or that material information is 
improperly being withheld, and takes no remedial action, and causes injury or 
potential injury to a party to the legal proceeding, or causes an adverse or potentially 
adverse effect on the legal proceeding. 

6.13 	 Reprimand is generally appropriate when a lawyer is negligent either in determining 
whether statements or documents are false or in taking remedial action when 
material information is being withheld and causes injury or potential injury to a 
party to the legal proceeding, or causes an adverse or potentially adverse effect on 
the legal proceeding. 

6.14 	 Admonition is generally appropriate when a lawyer engages in an isolated instance 
of neglect in determining whether submitted statements or documents are false or 
in failing to disclose material information upon learning of its falsity, and causes 
little or no actual or potential injury to a party, or causes little or no adverse or 
potentially adverse effect on the legal proceeding. 

15 Standard 5.1 provides: 

5.1 Failure to Maintain Personal Integrity 
Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, upon application of the factors set out in 

Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving commission 
ofa criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a 
lawyer in other respects, or in cases with conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 
misrepresentation: 

5.11 Disbarment is generally appropriate when: 
(a) 	 a lawyer engages in serious criminal conduct, a necessary element of which 
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Of course, the panel was not bound by the parties' agreement on a point of law, such as the 

applicability of a particular standard. 16 On review, petitioner argues that the panel majority's 

conclusion that Standard 5.1 applied to the exclusion of Standard 6.1 led to the selection of the 

wrong recommended level ofdiscipline (reprimand) that is generally appropriate for the misconduct 

here. Respondent argues that the panel majority's analysis is not incorrect, but that reprimand is the 

appropriate sanction under Standard 5.1 or Standard 6.1. 

We find the panel majority's decision to apply Standard 5.1 to be well-reasoned and 

appropriately tailored to the misconduct in this case. To be sure, arguments can be made that 

Standard 6.1 couldapply here, but our reading ofStandard 6.12, which the petitioner argues governs 

this case, leads us to the contrary conclusion: 

Suspension is generally appropriate when a lawyer knows that false 
statements or documents are being submitted to the court or that 
material information is improperly being withheld, and takes no 
remedial action, and causes injury or potential injury to a party to the 
legal proceeding, or causes an adverse or potentially adverse effect on 
the legal proceeding. [ABA Standard 6.12. Emphasis added.] 

Language throughout the standard demonstrates that it applies to misrepresentations to 

tribunals and not to third persons, such as opposing counsel. Notwithstanding the generic catchline 

of Standard 6.1 ("False Statements, Fraud, and Misrepresentation"), the preamble speaks of 

includes intentional interference with the administration of justice, false 
swearing, misrepresentation, fraud, extortion, misappropriation, or theft; or the 
sale, distribution or importation of controlled substances; or the intentional 
killing of another; or an attempt or conspiracy or solicitation of another to 
commit any of these offenses; or 

(b) 	 a lawyer engages in any other intentional conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, 
deceit, or misrepresentation that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's 
fitness to practice. 

5.12 	 Suspension is generally appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in 
criminal conduct which does not contain the elements listed in Standard 5.11 
and that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice. 
Reprimand is generally appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in any 
other conduct that involves dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation and 
that adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice law. 

5.13 

Admonition is generally appropriate when a lawyer engages in any other 
conduct that reflects adversely on the lawyer's fitness to practice law. 

5.14 

16 See, e.g., Kimmelman v Heather Downs Mgmt, 278 Mich App 569, 576 (2008); Rice v Ruddiman, 10 
Mich 125,138 (1862). 
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"misrepresentation to a court"17 and all but one of the subsidiary standards mentions deception of 

"the court." The exception, Standard 6.13, nonetheless uses the language and concepts of MRPC 

3.3 on candor to a tribunal, making the panel's observation that this case does not involve that rule 

most apt. IS 

In light of the foregoing, it is not surprising that we have read Standard 6.1 as involving 

misrepresentation to a tribunal in our prior opinions. For example, in one case we reasoned: 

Further, Standard 5.11 (b) deals with dishonesty, generally. Standard 
6.1 is expressly concerned with lawyer dishonesty in dealing with a 
court, and Standard 6.12 most closely fits the facts of this case. 
Therefore, we conclude that the panel did not err in applying Standard 
6.12 instead of Standard 5.1. [Grievance Administrator v Keith J. 
Milan, 06-74-GA (ADB 2008), p 5.] 

Compare Grievance Administrator v Kenneth P. Williams, 03-80-GA (ADB 2005) (discussing a 

panel's application of Standards 5.1 and 6.1 in a case involving a lawyer's signature of opposing 

counsel on a stipulation and submission to a court without consent but while flagging the absence 

of consent). 

Other jurisdictions also apply Standard 5.1 when assessing discipline for MRPC 4.1 

violations. For example, in a Colorado case involving a lawyer who made misrepresentations to 

opposing counsel during negotiations following the death of his client (which was not disclosed 

immediately), the Colorado Supreme Court treated the violation of general rules proscribing 

dishonest conduct as subsumed under the MRPC 4.1 charge for purposes determining discipline, and 

analyzed the case under ABA Standard 5.1. In Re Rosen, 198 P3d 116, 117 (Colo, 2008). The 

Colorado court articulated its quite logical reading of various Standards' applicability with respect 

to dishonest conduct as dependent upon the recipient of the deception or misrepresentation: 

Unless deceit or misrepresentation is directed toward a client, see 
ABA Standard 4.6, a tribunal, see ABA Standard 6.1, or the legal 
profession itself (as, for example, by making false representations in 

17 It is true, that the precatory language also mentions conduct prejudicial to the administration ofjustice, 
but one must still ascertain the primary character of the case and its violations and align it with the most 
appropriate standard. There are many types of conduct prejudicial to the administration ofjustice, and a review 
of the formal complaints filed with the Board shows that this charge is made in virtually every one. 

18 Compare Standard 5.13's reference to "remedial action" with MRPC 3.3( a)(3)' s reference to "remedial 
measures." 
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applying for admission to the bar), see ABA Standard 7.0, it is 
considered by the ABA Standards to be the violation of a duty owed 
to the public, see ABA Standard 5.0. [Rosen, 198 P3d at 120.] 

We do, however, agree with the Administrator (and so does respondent) that the Standards 

cannot be mechanically applied. There are several reasons for this, including the generality of the 

Standards in some respects, the differences betweenjurisdictions in terms ofhow certain misconduct 

may be viewed, and, quite frankly, possible drafting glitches. We reiterate a point made in one of 

our recent opinions, which incorporates important observations and directions from our Supreme 

Court: 

Ofcourse, the Standards "do not provide rigid guidelines for 
a level of discipline to be imposed in every conceivable factual 
situation." Grievance Administrator vHarvey J Zamek, 98-114-GA; 
93-133-FA (ADB 1999). They are "not designed to propose a 
specific sanction for each of the myriad of fact patterns in cases of 
lawyer misconduct." ABA Standards, p 6. Nonetheless, under 
Grievance Administrator v Lopatin, 462 Mich 235; 612 NW2d 120 
(2000), they are the starting point for the discharge of "our 
responsibility on review ... to examine the factors affecting the 
assessment of the appropriate level of discipline in light of the ABA 
Standards and applicable Michigan precedents and attempt to ensure 
continuity and proportionality in discipline." Grievance 
Administrator v Kathy Lynn Henry, 09-107-JC (ADB 2010). 

Also, 

[Lopatin's] directive to follow the ABA standards is 

not an instruction to [the ADB or its panels to] 
abdicate their responsibility to exercise independent 
judgment. Where, for articulated reasons, the ADB or 
a hearing panel determines that the ABA standards do 
not adequately consider the effects of certain 
misconduct, do not accurately address the aggravating 
or mitigating circumstances ofa particular case, or do 
not comport with the precedent of this Court or the 
ADB, it is incumbent on the ADB or the hearing panel 
to arrive at, and explain the basis for, a sanction or 
result that reflects this conclusion. [Lopatin, 462 
Mich at 248 n 13.] [Grievance Administrator v 
Valerie Colbert-Osemuede, 09-46-GA (ADB 2012), 
pp l3-14.] 

With the foregoing principles in mind, this Board has opined previously that dishonesty of 

the type covered, intermittently, in ABA Standard 5.1, should, in many cases, result in suspension 
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(and not only disbarment or reprimand): 

Standard [5.12] does not expressly reference dishonest acts, but only 
speaks ofcertain criminal conduct. We have observed elsewhere that 
apparent gaps in the intended coverage of Standard 5.1 render it 
somewhat difficult to apply, and that it is likely that ABA Standard 
5.12 was intended to apply to certain dishonest conduct as well as the 
criminal conduct mentioned therein. 19 

Thus, as is discussed further below, we conclude that the generally appropriate sanction for 

the misconduct in this matter is not necessarily a reprimand. 

The Administrator also argues that the majority opinion on discipline overlooked "five 

additional findings of misconduct" which "underscore why Standard 6.1 should have been used to 

assess Mr. Stefani's discipline." We disagree. The members of the panel were all well aware that 

the panel found respondent to have violated MRPC 8.4(b) and (c), and MCR 9.104(1) - (3). The 

bulk of these additional findings, which were clearly and logically secondary to the arguments by 

the parties and findings by the panel as to MRPC 4.1, deal with generalized statements of the duties 

ofhonesty and the like, and they do not alter the nature or character ofthe conduct in this case. The 

panel properly decided to focus on the primary charge, and the rule violation with the most precise 

19 Grievance Administrator v Kenneth P. Williams, 03-80-GA (A DB 2005), quoting Grievance 
Administrator v Arnold M Fink (After Remand), 96-18I-JC (ADB 2001), in which opinion the Board noted: 

[The] effort to place a particular case in the appropriate spot along the continuum [between 
Standard 5.11 and 5.12] is somewhat hampered by the fact that the text of the standards do not 
consistently describe the conduct to which they are applicable. For example, under 5.1 1 (b), 
disbannent is deemed appropriate for intentional dishonest conduct seriously reflecting adversely 
on fitness to practice, whether or not the conduct is criminal. However, Standard 5.12 appears 
on its face to be applicable only to criminal conduct (with additional elements involving fitness), 
whereas the text of Standard 5.13 (dishonesty and similar conduct that adversely reflects on 
fitness) does not specifically reference criminal conduct. It is unlikely that the Standards were 
meant to suggest that criminal conduct not meeting all of the elements of Standards 5.Il(a) and 
5.12 must always escape discipline altogether or that dishonest non-criminal conduct should only 
be the subject of a disbarment order or a reprimand, and not a suspension. 

Accordingly, we are not convinced that readings of Standard 5.1 to the contrary are accurate or correctly capture 
the generally appropriate sanctions for the subject conduct. See, e.g., In Re Rosen, supra, at 120: 

[C]onduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, as long as it falls short of 
actual criminality or comparable intentional conduct seriously adversely reflecting on one's 
fitness to practice law, should generally be sanctioned only by reprimand, or censure. See ABA 
Standard 5.13. Suspension as a sanction for knowingly dishonest conduct directed toward 
someone other than a client or tribunal is generally reserved for engaging in criminal conduct. 
See ABA Standard 5.1. 
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elements, and select the most appropriate sanctions standard based on its primary thrust, i.e., the 

essential nature of the conduct sought to be covered therein. Here, the panel correctly determined 

that Standard 6.1 is obviously and in the main (if not entirely) aimed at misrepresentations to a 

court. 20 We are not persuaded that the panel majority erred in applying Standard 5.1 instead of 

Standard 6.1 for the MRPC 4.1 violation in this instance. Nor are we ofthe opinion that application 

of Standard 6.12 would have changed the ultimate result in this case. 

While we find no error in the panel's application ofthe Standards, we are ofthe opinion that 

a suspension should be considered the generally applicable discipline for misconduct ofthis nature. 

As we have noted above, this Board has opined that the ABA Standards may not always 

appropriately reflect the seriousness of knowing misrepresentations (or fraudulent, deceitful or 

dishonest conduct) that adversely reflect on a lawyer's fitness to practice law. With this fitness 

element included, we are not speaking of harmless inaccuracies. Setting the bar at reprimand, then, 

does not seem adequate. 

Additionally, as we have recently observed: 

This Board's responsibility to ensure consistency and 
continuity in discipline imposed under the ABA Standards and 
caselaw necessarily means that we may not always afford deference 
to a hearing panel's sanction decision, and that we may be required 
to independently determine the appropriate weight to be assigned to 
various aggravating and mitigating factors depending on the nature of 
the violation and other circumstances considered in similar cases. 
Grievance Administrator v Saunders V Dorsey, 02-1 18-AI; 
02-121-JC (ADB 2005). [Grievance Administrator v Karen K 
Plants, 11-27-AI; 11-55-JC (ADB 2012).] 

The panel found that respondent pursued a lawyerly approach in researching the law ofsilent 

fraud, but that he was mistaken in assuming that tort law exhausted the applicable jurisprudence for 

determining what is proper as a matter of professional conduct. The panel also concluded that had 

he recognized the need to review decisions applying MRPC 4.1, less than clear guidance would have 

been afforded him. These are but two facets of the panel's extraordinarily thorough and cogent 

examination of every conceivable factor bearing upon the sanctions analysis under the Standards. 

And, in addition to the factors explored at length by the panel majority, we note the concluding 

20 MRPC 3.3 was not among the rules alleged in the formal complaint to have been violated, and there 
is ample evidentiary support for the majority's finding that the record does not establish a misrepresentation to the 
circuit court regarding the settlement. See Discipline Report, p 7. 
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remarks, finding "the conduct of respondent to have been, at the least, disappointing," and 

characterizing it accurately as "artifice" and "not justif[ied]." 

Thus, while we afford full deference to the panel's carefully considered examination and 

findings with respect to these factors, we must diverge from the majority's conclusion as to the 

appropriate level of discipline. A suspension is appropriate for the conduct here. However, the 

panel's recitation of the facts and balancing ofthe relevant factors convinces us that a suspension 

at the lower end ofthe allowable spectrum is also appropriate. Accordingly, we shall enter an order 

imposing a 30-day suspension. Credit shall be given for the respondent's previous 30-day 

suspenslOn. 

Board members Thomas G. Kienbaum, James M. Cameron, Jr., Carl E. Ver Beek, Craig H. Lubben, 
Sylvia P. Whitmer, Ph.D., Lawrence G. Campbell, Dulce M. Fuller, and Louann Van Der Wiele 
concur in this decision. 

Board Member Rosalind E. Griffin, M.D., was voluntarily recused and did not participate. 
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IL WITNESSES

SamuelMcCargo
Michael Stefani
JamesHowlett
Horace StevenForeman
Gary Brown

III. PANEL PROCEEDINGS

The Formal Complaint against attorneyMichael L. Stefani relatesto statements he made
regardingthe locationand confidentialstatusof certain textmessagesexchangedbetweenformer
Mayor Kwame M. Kilpatrick and his Chief of Staff Christine Beatty. The Grievance
Administrator(GA) filed this proceeding after leaveto supplement the charges inan earlier
proceeding was denied.See GrievanceAdministratorv Michael L. Stefani, ADB CaseNo.
09-47-GA(relating to themannerin whichMr. Stefani obtained the text messagesandhis alleged
concealmentofanother lawyers(Mr. Kulpatricks) perjury). TheFormalComplaint in thepresent
actionchargesthat Mr. Stefaniknowingly made a false statementofmaterialfactafterdisclosing
the textmessagesto Mr. Kilpatricks attorney,SamuelMcCargo,asan inducementto settle the
lawsuit Mr. Stefanisclients commenced againstMr. Kilpatrick and the City of Detroit. When
questioned about the whereaboutsofthe textmessages,Mr. Stefanidid not disclose that hehad
given adisk containing the text messagesto a reporterfor theDetroitFreePress,and ledMr.
McCargoto believe that the confidentialityofthe textmessagescould be maintained. WhileMr.
Stefaniadmitsto having been morally conflicted about not disclosing this fact, he insists that in
this adversarialcontext,Mr. McCargo(andfourother attorneys representingtheCity) failed to ask
the question thatwould have required thedisclosure.

The Complaintalso relies upon statementsMr. Stefani maderegardingthe FreePress
sourcefor the textmessagesduring a January30, 2008deposition inDetroitFree Press vCity of
Detroit, Wayne County Circuit Court CaseNo. 08-100-2l4-CZ(Complaint, ¶18)andduring an
April 8, 2008 legislativehearing beforethe Detroit CityCouncil (Complaint, ¶19). The Complaint
further recites that in testimony during a misconduct hearing onJuly 23, 2009, in Grievance
Administrator v SamuelE. McCargo,ADB CaseNo. 09-50-GA,Mr. Stefani responded1 do not,
no to the questiondo you know who gave theSkytel recordsto the FreePress?(Complaint,
¶20).Mr. Stefanisconductis allegedto be in violationofMRPC 4.1, MRPC 8.4(a)-(c),andMCR
9.l04(A)(l)-(4) (Complaint,¶21).

Earlier in these proceedings,Mr. Stefani soughtsummary disposition onres judicata
grounds asto the allegationsin paragraphs16 through19 of the Complaint,asserting that further
litigation ofthese allegations was barred by thefindingsoffactandconclusionsoflaw rendered in
Stefani,supra. This Paneldenied that motion onFebruary3, 2011,concluding thatthebetter
interestof the disciplinary process in this caseis servedby having respondentswhole conduct
consideredon its merits. An evidentiaryhearingwasconductedon February7, 2011.On March
24, 2011, the partiessubmittedProposedFindings of Fact and Conclusionsof Law. Oral
arguments were heardon March 29, 2011,andpost-argument briefs werefiled on April 8, 2011.
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IV. FINDINGS OF FACT

Exceptwith respectto oneissue identifiedbelow, theessentialfactsunderlyingtheGAs
chargesarenot in dispute. Wefind it unnecessaryto resolve the disputed issue in orderto reach a
decisionon thequestionspresentedfor panelreview. We therefore rely uponMr. Stefanisown
testimony in making the followingfindings offact.

A. Mr. StefanisConductin SettlementNegotiations

Mr. StefanirepresentedGary Brownand Harold Nelthrope in aWayneCounty Circuit
Court whistlebloweraction filed against the Cityof Detroit and former MayorKilpatrick in
2004. Tr 02/07/11at 78. A secondlawsuit against the same defendants was filed onbehalfof
Walter Harris. Id. at 78-79. On September11, 2007, thejury in the BrownfNelthropeaction
returned a verdict for plaintiffs in theamountof$6.5 million. Intereston the verdict approximated
$1.4million for a totaljudgmentofnearly$8 million, Id. at79. There had beenno overturesfrom
the defense relativeto settlementsinceMay or Juneof2007. Id. at ill. Mr. Stefaniproposed
settlementjust before trial butdefendantskind ofblew meoff. Id. at 112. Following the verdict
Mr. Kilpatrick actedas though hewasgoingto appealandwould notsettle. Id. at 112.

During pretrial discovery,Mr. Stefaniissuedsubpoenasto SkyTelto obtaintext messages
from devicesusedby Mr. Kilpatrick and Ms.Beatty. Those subpoenas resulted in theentryofa
protective orderrequiringthat any textmessagesresponsiveto the requestbe first submitted to the
court for an in camerareview. Id. at 79-80, 191. SkyTeldid not produce records inresponseto
thesubpoenaseither beforeorduring thetrial. Id. at 81. Mr. Stefani later found out that the City
hadtold SkyTelnot to produce therecordspending thefiling ofamotion to quash.Id. at 80, 84,
192.

Following the verdict, and believing the textmessagescould be relevant to post-trial
motionsandattorneyfees,andthinking that there could besomethingin the textmessagesthatwe
dont know about, Mr. Stefani directed subpoenasto SkyTel on September25, 2007, and
September28, 2007, seeking textmessagesfrom Ms. Beattys city-issueddevice. Id. at 82,
192-194.This time, insteadof seeking textmessagesfrom Ms. Beattys pager, the subpoena
requested text messagesfrom the City of Detroit pager leasedto Ms. Beatty. Mr. Stefani
admittedthat this changein the wordingofthe subpoenawas thekey that opened thedoor to
receiptofthetext messages.Id. at 221-222.AlthoughMr. Stefaniknewhe was violating the court
rules,he didnot givetimelynoticeof thesubpoenato opposingcounsel.Id. at82-83, 194-195.He
believedthat if Mr. Kilpatricks counselbecameawareofthe text messages in the conventional
manner, hewould rushinto courtandget the thingsuppressedorturned over to theMayor. Id.
at88. As to thispoint,Mr. Stefanitestified that hedidnt feeljustified in violating any... portion
oftheCanonsofEthicsbut hefelt morallyjustifiedasto what theyhad doneto me. But itdidnt
excuse my violationoftheCanonsofEthics, Id. at 195.

On October5-6,2007, SkyTelproduced a singledisk to Mr. Stefani which contained the
text messages.Id. at 84-85. Mr. Stefani immediatelysaw the obvious evidenceof lying and
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perjury andrealizedthat hehad a smokinggun. Id. at 95. Mr. Stefanisassistantmadetwo
copiesofthe diskand a hard copyprint-out. Id. at 85. One copy was given to Jim Schaefer at the
DetroitFreePressfor safe-keepingandbecauseMr. Stefani believedthat the public had theright
to know what the textmessages contained.Id. at 87-89,94-97.Mr. Stefaniwantedto usethe text
messagesto furtherhis clientsinterests while at the same timeinsuringthepublicsright to know.
Id. at 87-89. Oneparticulardesire was to use the textmessagesto deflect Mr. Kilpatricks
contention that thejury verdict was racially-motivatedand to show the public that thelegal
systemworkedandthat despite what theMayorsaid,thejury did its job. Id. at 87-88.Mr. Stefani
alsobelieved that it wasnot ethicalto settle the case with the whistleblower withouthavingthe
information comepublic. Id. at 89.

Mr. Stefaniand Mr. Schaefer hadan oral understandingthat the text messages could be
usedfor leadvalueon non-Brown/Nelthropematters,but Mr. Schaefer could notusethe text
messagesin thestory. With regardto the Brown/Nelthropecase,the understanding was that the
FreePresswould not usethe textmessagesunlessMr. SchaeferandtheFreePressfirst triedto
obtainthemindependently. Id. at99-101. Mr. Stefanismessageto theFreePresswasgetyour
own copy,andif you cant... you canusemine,andthisdid not requiretheFree Pressto explain
its efforts to Mr. Stefani orto elicit further permissionto publish. Id. at 101-102,224. Mr.
Stefanisintent was to have themessagespublishedandhe was99 percentsuretheFreePress
would runastory aboutKilpatricks perjury. Id. at 106-107,141, 197-198,224.

Judgment wasenteredin the Brown/Nelthrope caseon October9, 2007, andMr. Stefani
movedfor attorneyfees. Id. at 9 1-92. The presidingjudgereferred the attorney fee issueto
facilitation, which occurred on October17, 2007. Id. at 94, 107. Mr. Stefani took with himto
the facilitation a supplementalbrief in support of the attorney fee request which included
referencesto thetext messages,id. at 107-108,but hedid not showthebriefto opposingcounsel
right away. Id. at 112. [A close to final draftofthatbrief was marked as Exhibit 3.] Offers went
back andforth a numberof times, and at one point, defendants were at$450,000while Mr.
Stefanisclients were at$825,000.Mr. Stefanithen offeredto settle theattorneyfee issue for
$500,000if the partiescould reach aglobalsettlement forBrown,Nelthrope,and twootherclients
Mr. Stefani represented in claims against theCity. Defense counsel took the offer backto their
clientsbut they were unable to secureauthorityfor a global resolution. Id. at 113-114.

At this point, the parties had been negotiating fortwo and ahalf hours. Id. at 115.
Mr. Stefani gave the facilitatoran envelopethat contained a copyof the supplementalbrief and
askedhim to give it to Mr. McCargoonly. Id. at 114-116. Mr. Stefanihadconcludedthat it was
in his clientsbest interest to giveMr. McCargoan opportunityto resolvethecase without the text
messages becomingpublic. Id at 118. Mr. Stefani knew thetext messageswould become public
eventuallybecausetheFree Presshadthem,but in orderto get asettlementofthecase,he felt it
would be betterto let Mr. McCargodecidewhetherto share themwith the Citys lawyer. Id. at
117-118.He did not want the textmessagesto become public before hesettledthecase, Id. at
119. On the otherhand,Mr. Stefani testifiedon re-directthat if Mr. McCargoor anotherofthe
attorneys askedif he had disclosedanythingto other persons, heintendedto admit it. Id. at 198,
201.

4



About 45 minutesafterthe envelope was deliveredto Mr. McCargo,Mr. Stefani saw him
in the parkinglot. Mr. McCargo looked ashenandupset,and askedwhetherthe supplemental
brief had been filed. WhenMr. Stefani told him it had not,Mr. McCargo askedwhether
Mr. Stefani wouldbewilling to holdoff if he couldgetauthorityto negotiate aglobalnegotiation.
Mr. Stefani said I will not file it if wecan resolve thisthing, you know, Ill hold off, Id. at
119-121. Half an hourlater,Mr. Stefani was told thatMr. Kilpatrick was willing to negotiate a
global solution, Id. at 122. Mr. Stefani testified thattherewas no doubt in his mind thatthe
primary catalyst for the change inpositionwas the supplementalbrief referencesto the text
messages,id. at 122, and that the desireto assurethat thesemessageswould not go public
prompted asettlementthat very sameday. Id. at 224-225.

Within an hour to an hour and a half, asettlementamount and [a]lmost the entire
agreementhad beenreached,Id. at 122-123. Thelawyers decidedto continuepreparationofthe
agreement atMr. Stefanisoffice, Id. at 123. Whentheyarrived,Mr. Stefani gave them the draft
of an agreementhe had beenworking on, which consistsof fax numbered pages5 through9 of
PetitionersExhibit 4. Id. at 125. Mr. McCargoshandwrittennotationsappear in the marginof
the draft. Id. at 126. One notesaysAre thereany more recordsSkyTel, with the notation
Agents and investigators appearingbelow. Id. at 126. Mr. Stefani recognizedthat
confidentiality was thenumberone concern,id. at 123, and they wanted to keep [the text
messages]confidential,Id. at 224-225. Thesettlementagreement was drafted to putteethinto
this commitment, Mr. Stefanitestified:

[T]heir Number 1 concernis they wanted a penaltyif my law firm or anybody in
my law firm released themessages.Theywanted,as they putit, wevegot to have
teeth in it. And there were several other- they wanted this - they wanted
confidentiality agreementsfrom everyone who worked atStefani& Stefani,And
all that was inthat draft that Idid.

Id. at 123. But Mr. Stefaniadmittedto havingknown at the timethat,becauseofhis arrangement
with theFree Press,the defendants were bargainingfor somethingthey could notobtain,which
caused him to feelbadly andconflicted, Id. at225. He testified:

CHAIRMAN McGRAW: ,.. Sothat with yourarrangementwith the FreePress,
you knew that they were bargaining forsomethingthat theycouldntobtain?

THE WITNESS: Thatis correct,andthatswhy I testified I was conflicted about
that, because,you know, I felt badlythat McCargodidnt ask theright - he never
askednordid Mr. CopelandorMiss Osamuedeortheirtwo youngassociates- they
had fivelawyers.Noneofthem ever asked Haveyou evergiven themto somebody
else? Or How manycopiesdid you make? Where areall ofthecopiesyou made?
They neveraskedthat.

And I felt, you know,badlythat I was- I was conflicted between my dutiesto my
client andwhat I felt was taking advantageofMr. McCargonot being onhis toes,

5



He was- I thinkso shocked over this affairlanguagein there,and someof it was
awfully specific,I think hejust did not havehis thinking haton completely.

Id. at 225-226.See also, id. at 227 (So I was conflicted,and Ive testified tothat a numberof
times,I felt uneasy about lettingMcCargomakea mistakeandnot correcting it, but I researchedit,
thesilent fraudaspect, and Ifelt that it was - thatit was fairand in my clients best interest tolet
him make themistake. Its an adversary system.,,)

Mr. Stefaniand Mr.McCargodisagree aboutwhetherMr. Stefani wasaskedarethereany
morecopiesandhaveyou giventhemto anyoneelse.Seeid. at 199. Mr. McCargotestifiedthat
afterMr. Stefaniindicated that there was one in hissafein the officeandanotherin a safeat his
home,hewas asked,Well arethereany morecopiesand if therewas anyone else who knew
anything about thedisk? Id. at 34-35, Mr. Stefani testified that thediscussionof the text
messageswasthelast thingto comeup, afterthesettlementagreement had been negotiatedand
signed.Id. at 128, 200. Hedenies having been askedwhetherthere were any other copies, and
whether he had shared the textmessageswith others, statingthat if thosequestionshad beenasked,
theywouldhave been included in the termsofthe settlement agreement.Id. at 126, 199,201. As
it was, there wereno representationsin the agreement regarding past disclosures; it prohibited only
future disclosures. Id. at 201-202.

Forpurposesofthedecisionwerenderhere today, itis not necessary to resolve thisfactual
dispute, and we merely assume that the facts are as recited byMr. Stefani. Mr. Stefaniadmitsto
beingaskedwe want the textmessages,where are they, will you give themto us.Id. at 128,200,
Mr. Stefaniresponded thattheycould not have the text messagesand thatthey neededan escrow
agreement.As to the whereaboutsofthe textmessages,Mr. Stefani told themtherewas a copy in
his office safe,anotherin asafeat his house, and another copy onhis desk.Hedid not disclose the
copy that had been given toMr. Schaefer. Mr. Stefani testified asfollows:

A. . . .So, at theend,he asked,We want themessages,

I said, you canthave themessages.Wevegot to at least havean escrow
agreement.

And hesaid,Well, whereare they? And thesafeis right there,I mean, the
conferenceroom is much smaller- its like that water tank overthere.

I said,Its in thatsafeover there. And Idid, I did open thesafeandtake out
the envelopeand showedthem the envelope.I didnt go into the inside of the
envelope,but I showedthemit was an overnight thingfrom Skylel so theywould
have- theyknowI wasntmisleadingthem.

Q, Did you alsotell Mr. McCargothat you hadanothercopy at asafein your
house?
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A. Yes,I told McCargothat I had another copy atmy house, and I hadanother
copy I thought lyingon my desk.

Q. But you, ofcourse,did not tell him therewas a copy in the possessionof
Mr. Schaefer?

A. No, I didnt. And I had to be-

Q. Thankyou, you answeredthequestion.

Id. at 129-130.Seealso, id. at 200 (repeating this testimonyandfurtherstatingBut hedidnt ask
the question- he neverasked,you know, howmanycopies arethere,who did you give themto.
The questionwasnthow many copiesand where are they. They weremorelike prove to us
youve got themessages,and thats when I took it outof the safe ...) These responses are
challenged as misconductin theGAs complaint. SeeComplaint,¶s 13-17.

Mr. Stefaniadmits that hewrestledwith the moral questionbecause... [he] was truly,
truly conflicted byknowing that Mr. McCargo didnt think to ask me thatquestion. Id. at
204-205.Heanalyzedfrom a moralstandpointwhether it wasfair anddo I haveto volunteerit
but concludedthat if he told him about itthen Im hurtingmy clients, becauseoneof them in
particular, Nelthrope, really was having some toughtimes emotionallyand he needed to bring
closureto this thing. Id. at205. Althoughhe felt badly about not pointing outMcCargoserror to
him, heconcludedthatmy duty wasto my clientand - my clientsandif hedidntthink to ask the
question,I wasntgoingto, you know, hurt my own clients by volunteering thatinformation.Id.
After agreement wasreached,Mr. Stefani calledMr. Schaeferand told him he wantedthedisk
back. Mr. Schaefer brought itto Mr. Stefani, who askedMr. Schaefer whether he had taken
sufficientnotes.Mr. Schaefer respondedsomethingto the effectof wereokay.Mr. Stefanidid
not ask whetherMr. Schaefer had made acopy. Id. at 131-133, Subsequently,the disks,
supplemental briefsanda print-outofthe text messages were placedin escrow.Id. at 137-138.

A couple weekslater, Mr. McCargo told Mr. Stefani it wasnecessaryto redraft the
settlementagreement to split the confidentiality agreement into aseparatedocument,Thepurpose
was to avoid disclosing the text messages to theFree Press in response toa Freedomof
Information Act request. Id. at 138-141. Mr. Stefani was concerned that in redrafting,
representationswould bemaderegardingretrospectivedisclosuresofthe textmessagesratherthan
the prospective onlylanguagethat hadappearedin the original document.Id. at 142. Hewas
assured thelanguagewould be thesame.Id. Mr. Stefani knew that theFree Pressalreadyhad,or
would get, the textmessages,id. at 141, andsince I already knewthat theFree Pressorfelt very
strongly theFree Presswas goingto do a story about theMayorsperjury, I sawno harm in going
alongwith the changeand,ofcourse,by doing that it allowed my clientsandme to getpaid ... Id.
at 143. Mr. Stefani acknowledgedthat Kilpatrick wantedthe information keptsecretand
admittedthat hemaneuveredtheminto settling this case by letting them believe the text messages
would be keptconfidential,Id. at 146.
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A. ... Theresno question that Ilet them believe one thingthat wasntaccurate.
Theydidnt ask me anyquestionsaboutis this all youvegiven. ... [T]heresno
question,if they had known I had given themessages,wewouldnthave settled it
thatday.

Id, at 146-147. The confidentiality agreement contained a fairlysubstantialliquidated damages
clausein the eventofbreach, but Mr. Stefani hadno concern about having his clientssign onto
suchan agreement because theydidnt know he hadgiven the textmessagesto Mr. Schaefer:

A. ... [IJf anybodydid anythingwrong, it was me,and - but I didnt. I followed that
agreementto theletter.

Id. at 148.

The documentsweresignedandthe settlementchecksreceivedby December5, 2007. Id.
at234. TheDetroitFree Pressran thestory in thefirst partof2008. Id. at 151. Mr. Stefanidid
not seeanythingin thestorythat couldnot have comefrom the textmessages. Id. at 154.

B. Mr. StefanisTestimonyin DetroitFree Pressv City ofDetroit

After the story was published,Mr. Stefani was subpoenaedto give a deposition in the
FOIA actionfiled by theDetroitFreePressin Januaryof2008. Id. at 151, 156. In Octoberor
November,orpossibly evenJanuary,Mr. Schaefer had urgedMr. Stefanito publicly admit that he
was thesourceofthetext messagesso theFreePresscould publishits story. Mr. Schaeferalso
told Mr. Stefanithat althoughhe (Schaefer) was not alawyer, the ethics rules required Mr. Stefani
to reportMr. Kilpatricksperjuryto the AttorneyGrievance Commission.Id. at 158-160.

Mr. Stefani ultimately had afaceto facemeetingwith Mr. Schaefer and theFree Press
lawyer, HerschelFink, Id. at 161-162. They discussed the journalist privilege theFree Press
would assertif Mr. Stefaniwas deposed on thesourceissueandaddedthat whetheryou answeror
not is up to you. Id. at 163.Mr. Stefaniexplained,I was preparedin my ownmindto admitthat
I had given the textmessages,andthey were offeringme awayto maintainthat - maintain that fact
as beingconfidentialandI wasin favorofthat. Id. at 163-164.

The deposition occurredon January30, 2008, id. at 156, and answers given at the
deposition are the subjectoftheGAs complaintagainstMr. Stefani.SeeComplaint,¶18.During
thedeposition,Mr. Stefaniwasaskedwhether he hadsharedtheSkyTel records with theDetroit
Free Press, Herecallssaying,If I wereto sayabsolutelynot I didntshareanyrecords,I would
clearmyselfofsuspicion,but Iwouldnarrowthe fieldofother possible sourcesofinformationthat
theFree Pressmight haveused.Id. at 165.

Mr. Stefaniwasalsoaskedwhether hesharedtheSkyTel recordswith anyone else,andhe
responded,If I wereto stay[sic] no to thatquestion itwouldmake it easierfor the City to identify
the sourcebecause therewould be one lesssuspect. Id. Mr. Stefaniwas thenaskedwho he
thoughthadgiven theSkyTelrecords to theDetroitFree Press,andhe recallssaying,By clearing
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myselfI couldbe implicating somebodyelse,andI - I personallybelieve whoever did furnish this
informationto theFree Pressdid the City aservice;andsotherefore,I think whoever did itshould
get anattaboy,but Im not goingto tell you who itwas. Id. at 165-166. Mr. Stefaniwasalso
askedwhyhe was asserting ajournalistprivilegeon behalfoftheFree Press,to which hesaidIf
I were to tell you who I suspected gave those documents, Iwould narrow the field downand I
firmly believethat whoeverdid this did a serviceandwill want to protect whoever did thisbecause
I think they did aservice. Id. at 166.

Mr. Stefanidid not considerhis answersto be misleading. During the first weekofJanuary
2008,he had been visited in Florida byMr. Schaeferand aFree Presseditor who had informed
him thatMr. Schaefer was goingto Mississippi the following weekto get themessages,andhe
didnt know whetherMr. Schaefer ultimatelyobtainedthem. Id. at 168-169. Additionally, in
giving the textmessagesto theFree Press,Mr. Stefanibelievedheperformeda servicefor the
City andthecommunity:

A. ... If therewas asourcedownin Mississippi,therewas somesort of a
lawyer down there,if it wasme,I think I did aservice,and I think if you werefair,
you would acknowledgethat whoeverdid it, whethertheybreached theCanon,or
whether they violated theRulesofProfessionalConduct or not did a serviceto the
City ofDetroit andthis community.

Id. at 169.

C, Mr. StefanisTestimonyBeforetheDetroitCity Council

Mr. Stefaniwas calledto testify at a legislativehearing before the Detroit CityCouncil on
April 8, 2008,and was asked whether thetext messageswereobtainedlegally. Heresponded:

Well I know I obtainedthem legally. I obtained them through thesubpoena
process. How the Free Pressgot them,Im not in a position to speculate whether it
waslegalornot, because,you know, Im justnot sure how theygot them...if I were
to deny to thisCouncil that I hadanythingto do with it, that wouldnarrow the pool
ofsuspectsandmakeit easier for those who havesomethingto gain by identil~ying
who did facilitate the FreePress,andIm going to respectfully declineto assistin
that.

This testimony is also a subjectof the GAs complaint, See Complaint, ¶19. Mr. Stefani
explainedthat he had beenvisited in Florida thefirst week ofJanuary2008by Mr. Schaeferanda
Free Presseditor who informed him thatMr. Schaefer wasgoing to Mississippi the following
week to get themessages.Id. at 168-169,171, 231. As he understoodit, they weretelling him
weregoing to try one more time toget themessages,[w]ere sendingMr. Schaefer downthere
and if hesunsuccessful,were going to probably publish basedon your .,. messages.Id. at
171-172. Two weeks later thestorycame outand Mr.Stefanidid not know whether it was based
on messagesthathe got ormessagesthat I gavehim. Id. at 172.
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D. Mr. StefanisTestimonyat theMcCargoDisciplinaryHearing

Another aspectof the GAs complaint charges thatMr. Stefani testified falsely during a
July 23, 2009misconducthearingin GrievanceAdministratorv SamuelF. McCargo, supra. See
Complaint,¶20. At that hearing, Mr. Stefani was askedif he sharedtheSkyTel records with the
Free Press,and whether, prior to October17, 2007, he gaveor sharedthe SkyTel records with
anyone. Out ofrespectfor thejournalist/sourceprivilege, Mr. Stefani declined to answer these
questions. Mr. Stefani was thenasked,Do you know who gave theSkyTel records to theFree
Press?to which he repliedI do notknow. Id. at 172-175.

At the hearingbefore this Panel,Mr. Stefani testified that he misunderstood that last
question. Id. at 175. He thought the question meantdo I know whosemessagesthe Free Press
published;in otherwords,hesaiddo you know who gave the messagesto the FreePress.I thought
he was talking about the ones that they published. And Ididntknow that. Id. Seealso, id. at
228-229. Mr.Stefaniknew theFree Presswas making efforts toobtain the textmessages,and
admitsthat he hadno reason to believe that theyhad beensuccessful.Id. at 229-230. Mr. Stefani
testified that if he hadthoughtfor a minute he was askingif I had given those messages... I
would have said I respectfully declineto answeron the groundsof the newspaper source
privilege...1 was doing what I thought I wasentitledto do andI certainlywasntlying. Id. at 176,
211-212. Mr. Stefani testified that he was not affordedan opportunity to explain the
misunderstanding that ledto this very terseanswerbecause an objectionon relevancy grounds
was sustainedandthe subject wasdropped. Id. at 213-214.

E. Other MattersAffectingCredibility

Finally, Mr. Stefaniadmittedthatduring a groupdiscussion involvingMr. Stefani, Charlie
LeDuff, Sharon McPhailandAdolf Mongo that may have occurredon September18, 2008, Mr.
Stefaniansweredabsolutelynot to the questiondid you give textmessagesto themedia? Id.
at 179. Mr. Stefanisaidhe was not under oathandhad been accusedofall kinds ofthingsandI
did say,no, I didnt give them becauseI didnt think I was obligated totell them thefacts. He
acknowledged,I madea mistakeandI lied to them. Id. at 179-180.This false statement was not
alleged asa basis for a findingofmisconductin the formalcomplaint.Rather,testimonyas to this
statement waselicited at thehearingas relevantto respondentscredibility.

V. FINDINGSAND CONCLUSIONSREGARDINGMISCONDUCT

We unanimously conclude,for the reasons setforth below, that:

respondentsstatements in connectionwith the settlementnegotiations
commencing October17, 2007,were in violationofvariousRulesofProfessional
Conduct (see Section A below and the separateconcurring statementof Panel
Member Dunn);

1 The July 23,2009 hearingtranscript in GrievanceAdministrator vSamuelK McCargo,ADB CaseNo. 09-50-GA,
describesthis testimonyas1 do not, no, which is consistentwith the Complaint allegations.
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respondentsstatements during hisdepositiontestimony in the FOIAaction,
DetroitFree Press vCity ofDetroit (seeparagraph18 ofthe formal complaint), did
not violatethe Rulesof Professional Conduct asalleged(see SectionC below);
and,

• respondentsstatements before the Detroit CityCouncil (seeparagraph19
of the formal complaint), did not violate the Rulesof ProfessionalConduct as
alleged(seeSectionC below);

By a majority, this hearingpanelfinds and concludes thatrespondentstestimony during
the McCargo disciplinary hearing, as alleged in paragraph20 of the formalcomplaint,did not
violate theRulesofProfessionalConduct (see decisionofPanelMembers Longstreetand Dunn in
SectionB below). Panel Chairperson McGrawdissentsfrom the findings and conclusionsin
SectionB for the reasonsset forth in his separatestatement,

A. Statements Madeor Omitted By Mr. Stefani in the Courseof Settlement
Negotiations ViolateMRPC4.1, MRPC8.4(a)-(c),andMCR 9,104(A)(1)-(4).

Thefirst issue we must addressis whetherthe GA hasestablishedby a preponderanceof
the evidence that statements madeor omitted by Mr. Stefani in the course of settlement
negotiations violate MRPC4.1 and MRPC 8.4(a)-(c) of the Michigan Rulesof Professional
Conduct,and/or MCR9.l04(A)(1)-(4)of the MichiganCourt Rules. We answeraffirmatively.

MRPC4.1 requires a lawyerto betruthful in his statementsto others.It providesthat, In
the courseofrepresenting a client, a lawyer shall not knowinglymakea false statementofmaterial
fact or lawto a thirdperson. MRPC 4.1. While theRulesCommentsemphasize that a lawyer
generallyhasno affirmativeduty to inform an opposing partyofrelevantfacts,it follows thelaw
in explaining thata false statementmayinclude the failureto make a statement in circumstances
in which silenceis equivalent tomakingsuch astatement.

MRPC 8,4 defines professionalmisconduct. Pursuantto subsection(a), misconduct
occurswhen alawyerviolatesor attemptsto violate the MRPCorknowingly assistsor induces
anotherto do so, or doesso through the actsof another. Subsection (b)definesmisconduct as
engagingin conduct involving dishonesty,fraud, deceit, misrepresentation,or violation of the
criminal law, wheresuchconduct reflects adverselyon thelawyershonesty,trustworthiness,or
fitnessas alawyer. Misconduct will be found undersubsection(c) when a lawyer engages in
conductthat is prejudicial to the administrationofjustice.

MCR 9.104(A) describes actsor omissionsthat constitutemisconduct,whetheror not
occurringin the courseofan attorney-client relationship. Theyinclude: (1) conductprejudicialto
the properadministrationofjustice;(2) conduct that exposes thelegal professionorthe courtsto
obloquy, contempt,censure,orreproach;(3) conduct thatis contraryto justice, ethics,honesty,or
goodmorals; [and] (4) conduct that violates thestandardsor rules of professional responsibility
adopted by the SupremeCourt.
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On thebasisof Mr. Stefanistestimony,wefind that statements Mr.Stefanimadeto Mr.
McCargoregarding the locationof the textmessagesand their confidential status,as well as
statements he knowingly omitted, violate theabove rules.

1. TheStatementsto Mr. McCargoViolateMRPC4.1,

To trigger a violationofMRPC 4.1, a lawyersstatement must be material,false,knowing,
andmadein the courseofrepresenting aclient.The statementsupon whichwerelyin reachingour
decision fall intotwo categories.The first categorypertainsto statementsregardingthe locationof
the textmessages.Thesecond related category involves the abilityto keep themsecret.Weintend
the term statementsthroughout this opinion to includeomissions as well asaffirmative
representations.

In defining statements inthis manner,werelyupon theCommentsto MRPC 4.1, which
explain thata falsestatementmayinclude thefailure to makea statementin circumstancesin
which silenceis equivalentto making such astatement(emphasisadded).ThisPanelsviewofthe
law anda lawyersobligation to disclose informationto opposingcounselasset forth herearises
from the very uniqueset of facts this case presents. Defendants could not have knownor
discovered thatMr. Stefanisactions had thwartedtheirgoalofpreventing public disclosureofthe
text messagesabsent disclosure byMr. Stefani.Underthese circumstances, Mr.Stefanissilence
was equivalentto making a statement. We need notdecideany other issueregardinga lawyers
obligation to disclose factsor information in connection withefforts to resolve acivil dispute.

a. TheStatements.

Mr. Stefani admitsmaking statementsregardingthe locationof the textmessages.He
admitsbeing askedwe want the text messages, where are they, willyou give them to us. Tr
02/07/11at 128, 200. In responseto wherearethey,Mr. Stefani admits statingthattherewas a
copy inhis office safe,another in asafeathis home, and another copyon his desk, but hedid not
disclose the locationofthe copy he had given toMr. Schaefer. Id. at 128-130.

Mr. Stefanialso made statements to induceMr. McCargoand others to believe that the
confidentialityofthe text messages could be maintained. Thefirst questionMr. McCargoasked
afterseeing the excerpted text messagesin the supplementalbriefwas whether thebriefhad been
filed, id. at 120, andthen,whetherMr. Stefaniwouldbe willing to holdoff filing if permission for
a global settlementcould beobtained.Id. at 120-121.Mr. Stefanitold him I will not file it if we
can resolve this thing,you know, Ill hold off. Id. at 121. Mr. Stefani admitted that he
maneuveredtheminto settling this case by letting them believe thetext messageswould be kept
confidentialid. at 146, and thathe knewdefendantswerebargainingfor somethingtheycould not
obtain.Id. at225-226. He franklyadmittedthat [t]heresno questionthat I let thembelieve one
thing thatwasntaccurate.Id. at 146.
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b. In theCourseofRepresentationandMateriality.

All ofthe statements were indisputably made in the courseofnegotiations undertaken by
Mr. Stefanito globally resolve litigationon behalfofhis clients, It is alsobeyond question that
the statementswere material to the negotiated resolutionof the litigation. To bematerial, the
representation need not relateto thesoleorprimaryreasonfor the transaction, but must relate toan
important fact.PapinvDemski,17 Mich App 151, 156; 169 NW2d351 (1969), Seealso,Zine v
ChryslerCorp, 236 Mich App 261, 283;600 NW2d 384 (1999)(a material factfor purposesof
theMCPA would likewise be one thatis important to the transactionor affects theconsumers
decision to enter into thetransaction.).

Although thereis abundant evidencefrom which materialitycan be inferred, Mr.Stefani
essentiallyadmitsit. He testified that there was no doubt inhis mind that theprimarycatalyst for
the defendantschange inpositionon the global settlement issue was the supplementalbrief
referencesto the textmessages,id. at 122; the desireto assure that these messageswould not go
public prompted asettlementthat very sameday. Id. at 224-225. Confidentiality was thenumber
oneconcern,id. at 123; theywantedto keep[thetext messages]confidentialid. at 123, 224-225,
andput teethinto thecommitment,Id. at 123. In Mr. Stefanisownwords,theresno question,
if they had known I had given the messages,wewouldnthave settled itthat day. Id. at 146-147.

c. Falsity,

In this Panelsview, the falsity of the statementsmadeby Mr. Stefaniis not a close
question.We do not accept the fineline Mr. Stefani seeksto draw between a question which asks
we want the textmessages,where aretheyandquestions which askwhereareall ofthe copies
you madeor how many copiesand where arethey? In ourconsidered judgment, eachis a
reiterationof the same questionand eachis designed to elicit the same response. Itis not
reasonableto conclude that thefirst question(where arethey) did not requireMr. Stefanito
disclose thedisk in the possessionoftheFree Press,but a question which askshowmanycopies
andwhere arethey would have elicitedthat information (as Mr.Stefaniapparentlyargues).See
e.g., id. at 225-226(Noneofthem ever asked Have you ever giventhemto somebodyelse? Or
How manycopiesdid you make?Where areall of the copiesyou made? Theyneveraskedthat.),

In anothercontext Mr.Stefaniacknowledgedthatifajudgeaskedhim Mr. Stefani,do you
have any copy other thanthis copy,do you have any other onesordo youknowwhereanyother
onesare, I would, ofcourse,have to betruthful andI would tell them,yes, I gaveone to my buddy
Ed orI gaveoneto my cousin Lucy... Id. at 104 (emphasisadded). We fail to seehow do you
know whereany other onesare and wherearethey substantively require different responses.
Mr. Stefanisconcealmentis not excused by apurportedfailureto ask the rightquestion.

Further,irrespectiveoftheresponse requiredby othercomparable iterationsofthe inquiry,
we cannotlogically concludethat the questionwherearethey allowedMr. Stefani todescribe
the locationofsome,but notall, ofthe textmessages(and copies) that came intohis possession.
The question wasnot, whereare someofthe textmessagesor whereare you keeping twoor
threecopiesofthe textmessages.Wherearethey impliesno limitation andhis responsewould
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lead oneto reasonably believethat he had accountedfor all ofthe copies(thereis a copy in my
office safe,another ina safeat my home,andanother copyon my desk).

The statementsMr. Stefani made with respect to confidentiality were alsofalse,
Mr. Stefani knewto nearly a100%certainty that theFree Presswould publish the textmessages,
andthat was clearlyhis intent. Seeid. at 106-107,141, 197-198,224. In fact, he believed thatit
was not ethical tosettle the casewithout having the information becomepublic. Id. at 89.
Negotiating with Mr. McCargo to maintain the confidentialityof the text messages when
Mr. Stefanihad alreadycommittedthe textmessagesto public disclosureis by omission a false
statement,

d. Knowingly Made.

The finalMRPC 4.1 issueis whetherMr. Stefanisfalsestatementswere knowingly made,
Thecommentsto MRPC 1.0 (governingthe scopeandapplicability of the rulesandcommentary)
providethat knowingly denotesactual knowledgeofthe fact inquestionand that[a] persons
knowledge may be inferredfrom circumstances.

Mr. Stefanistestimonial admissionsdo not leaveroomfor equivocationon this issue.He
admitsto havingknownthat,becauseofhis arrangement with theFreePress,the defendants were
bargaining for somethingtheycouldnot obtain. Id. at 225. This caused himto feelbadly and
conflicted, like he wastaking advantageofMr. McCargonot being on histoes, Id. Hewas
uneasyabout lettingMcCargomake a mistakeandnot correctingit, id. at 227, and wrestled
with the moralquestion. Id. at 204-205. He analyzedwhetherit was fair from a moral
standpoint,andwhether he hadan obligationto volunteerit, ultimatelyconcludingthat he was
not goingto hurtmy ownclientsby volunteeringthat information.Id. at 205.Theseadmissions
aloneestablishthat Mr. Stefani was notignorantofthetruth. Thefalsity ofhis statements was not
inadvertent butknowing.

Even asidefrom Mr. Stefanisadmissions,an objectiveview of therecorddemonstrates
that Mr. Stefani was not jesting when he claimed tohave maneuveredthe defendantsinto
settling thecaseby letting them believe the textmessageswouldbe keptconfidential.Id. at 146.
A calculated schemeto createthis false impressionis apparent.

Thefirst stepwasto subpoenathe textmessageswithout givingtimely noticeto defendants
orthe Court,an admittedviolation ofthe courtrules.Then, Mr. Stefanispecifieddeliveryof the
text messages directlyto his office, despite a court orderrequiringthat they be producedto the
Court.Upon receiptofthe textmessages,Mr. Stefani gave a copyto theFree Pressandexcerpted
referencesin asupplementalbrief on attorneyfees.Mr. Stefanithenprovided thesupplemental
briefto Mr. McCargoalone, creating the impressionthat Mr. McCargocould decidewhetherand
with whom the textmessageswould beshared.Thentherewas thepromiseto hold off filing - and
to not file atall - if aglobal resolutioncould bereached.In drafting thesettlementagreement,Mr.
Stefani agreedto put teeth into thepromiseof prospectiveconfidentiality,an empty gesture
given the retrospective disclosurethat had alreadybeen made.Mr. Stefanispartial answer to
wherearethey furthered theillusion by falsely assuring defendantsthat the text messages had
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beensecured.This was followedby Mr. StefanisretrievaloftheFreePressdisk (anutterly futile
act givenMr. Stefanisfailure to determine whether a copy had been made), the illusory escrow
arrangement,and the truly ironic redrafting of the settlementagreement to insulate the text
messagesfrom a possibleFree PressFOIA request. As to the latter point,Mr. Stefanitestified:

[S]ince I already knew that theFreePressorfelt very strongly the Free Press was
going todo astoryabout theMayorsperjury, I sawno harm in going alongwith the
changeand,ofcourse,by doingthat it allowed myclientsandme to getpaid...

Id. at 143.

In summary,while it certainlymay have been a laudable goal toprovidethe public with
information regardingthe serious misdeedsof Mr. Kilpatrick, nevertheless andimportantly, a
lawyer must adhereto theobligationsimposed by theRulesofProfessionalConduct,which are
not situational, and requireethical behaviorat all times. We thereforefind that Mr. Stefanis
statements during negotiations withMr. McCargoviolateMRPC 4.1.

2. The Statementsto Mr. McCargo Violate MRPC 8.4 and MCR
9.104(A)(1)-(4).

For the reasons expressedabove,we alsofind that Mr. Stefani has engaged in misconduct
as defined by MRPC8.4(a)-(c)and MCR9.l04(A)(1)-(4).More specifically,ourfinding thatMr.
Stefani violated MRPC4.1 triggers a findingof misconductunder MRPC8.4(a) (misconduct
occurswhen alawyerviolatesorattemptsto violate theMRPC) andMCR 9.104(A)(4) (defining
misconduct as conduct which violates the rulesof professionalresponsibility adopted by the
SupremeCourt).

Further,ourfinding thatMr. Stefani knowingly made a false statementofmaterialfactto a
third party in the courseof representing a client triggers a violationof MRPC 8.4(b) (which
encompasseswithin the definitionofmisconduct, conduct involvingdishonesty,fraud, deceitor
misrepresentation which reflects adversely on thelawyershonesty,trustworthiness,or fitnessas a
lawyer) and MCR 9,104(A)(3) (which prohibits conduct thatis contraryto justice,honesty,or
goodmorals),Suchconductis alsoprejudicialto theadministration(andproperadministration)of
justice,and therefore proscribed by MRPC8.4(c)and9.1 04(A)(1). Finally, it takesno greatleapof
faith to concludethat such conduct exposes thelegalprofessionto contemptandreproach, thereby
constituting misconductwithin the meaningof MCR9.l04(A)(2). For these reasons, misconduct
proscribed by MRPC8.4(a)-(c)andMCR 9.104(A)(l)-(4)has beenestablished.

B. Mr. StefanisTestimonyDuringtheMcCargoHearingDid Not ViolateMRPC
4.1, MRPC8.4 or MCR 9.104(A).

RespondentsExhibit D [McCargo 07/23/09hearingtranscript,at 119] showsthat the
statement alleged by Petitioner in paragraph20 of the formalcomplaintwasmade, Respondent
contendsthat the answer as reported in thetranscriptwas completelytruthful as responding to
what he considered the question tomean:do you know who gave the SkyTel recordsto theFree
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Pressthat it published? Tr 02/07/il at 211. Respondentclaimshe doesnotknow whether he
was thesourceofthe textmessagespublishedby theFree Press,or whethertheFreePresswas
ableto obtainthosemessagesdirectlyby pursuingcontactswith SkyTelprovidedby Respondent.
Thus, the answer in the transcript,I do not, no, in responseto the question Respondent sayshe
thoughthe was being askedwould notbe untruthful.

We are persuaded that Respondentunderstoodthe question in themannerhe testifiedto.
This is a more plausible understandingof the evidencethan a reading which would have
Respondent utteringan obviously untrue response.We agree withRespondentthat,afterhaving
so carefully answered previousquestionsto the sameeffect, sucha flat denial doesntmake
sense,Id. at 212. Thus, we do not find that the conduct alleged inparagraph20 of the formal
complaintviolatesanyapplicablerule.

C, Mr, StefanisDeposition Testimonyin DetroitFree Pressv City ofDetroitand
His TestimonyBefore the Detroit City Council Did Not Violate MRPC 4.1,
MRPC8.4 orMCR 9,104(A),

As described above, during adepositionin DetroitFreePressv City ofDetroit,Mr. Stefani
was asked aseriesof questionsregarding the SkyTel textmessages.During a hearingof the
Detroit City Council, he was askedwhether the textmessageswere obtainedlegally. The GA
challengesMr. Stefanisresponsesto thesequestionsas further evidenceofmisconduct,

While Mr. Stefanistestimonyon these occasions waslessthanforthright, wedo not find
that it constitutes professional misconductora violationof therulesas we understandthem.

Misconduct having beenestablished,the Attorney Discipline Board shall schedule a
separatedisciplinary hearing to address aggravatingandmitigating factors.

ATTORNEY DISCIPLINE BOARD
Tn-CountyHearing Panel#25

Dated: ~~be~j~,22Qj1 By: _________________________________
StephenD. McGraw,Chairperson
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StatementofPanel Member DunnConcurringin Part,Dissentingin Part:

I. Concurringstatement:

A. I believe additional discussionand legal analysisof MRPC Rule 4.1 and its
commentis needed. Iwould not want our opinion tobe viewed asprecedentthat couldexpose
any lawyer who decides notto disclose a pieceof useful information in a matter togrievance
prosecution. The lawon the subjectis ampleand,I believe,worth wendingourwaythroughin the
interestof clarity. In the balance hereis an overall duty of loyalty to a client, which requires
competentand diligent representation and confidentiality,againsta specific duty not to make
knowingly a false statementof material fact. Accordingly, the resultmustbe justifiable under
extensive interpretive resourcesapplicable.This matteris not assimple as ithasbeen madeto
seem.

There can beno seriousdisputeabout most elementsof this violation: the questions
whether the statements werematerial and were made knowingly and in the courseof
representation, and whether Mr.McCargo is a third party within the meaningofthe rule, must
clearlyall be answeredin theaffirmative. Violation ofMRPC Rule4.1 does not requireadverse
effect,only the actitself, The question thencomesdown to:was afalsestatementmade? As
discussedbelow, answeringthis question requiressustained analysis.

Wasanexpress statementthat was false actually made? Petitioner has alleged in paragraph
16 of the formal complaint that Stefanitold Samuel E. McCargo certain specific untrue
statements- there areno other copiesthanin Respondentssafe,at his home or on hisdesk;andno
oneelsehadbeengivenaccessto them other thanspecificallynamedpersons. Stefani has denied
these allegations, and disputes(Tr, 200,2/7/2011) that thequestionsthat allegedlygaverise these
answerswere in fact asked. Mr. McCargotestified that they were asked(Tr. 34-5, 2/7/2011).
Stefani hastestifiedthat he maneuvered thesettlementby lettingtheMayorbelievesomethingthat
was not possible(Tr. 146, 2/7/2011), and that he researched the lawof silent fraud(Tr, 227,
2/7/2011). Thatbeing so, it would seem unlikely that Stefani would make affirmatively untrue
statements as alleged. Inaddition,if thequestionsasMcCargoclaimswereaskedandassurances
had been given as alleged, it stretchescredulity to believe that the answers, particularly to
questionsthat were the subjectof pressinginquiry as McCargohas claimed (Tr. 35, 38,
2/7/2011),would not have beenincorporatedin a comprehensiveagreementof settlement that
providedsevereeconomic penalties for violation- as noted by Stefani(Tr. 210, 2/7/2011).

I would find that the allegationsof Petitioner inparagraph16 ofthe formalcomplaint,to
the extent they require usto find that Stefanitold McCargocertainfalse facts, have not been
proven.If the conclusionsofmy colleagues arebased,as they say, onMr. Stefanistestimony, then
they must credit his versionofwhy thequestionswereasked,not infer that they meant what they

Restatementof theLaw Third, The Law GoverningLawyers, §98, cmt. C notes: For professional discipline
purposes,the lawyer codesgenerallyincorporatethe defmition ofmisrepresentationemployedin thecivil law oftort
damage liability for knowing misrepresentation,including the elementsof falsity, scienter, and materiality. However,
for disciplinary purposes,relianceby and injury to another personare not required.
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think thequestionsmust havemeant. Stefani testifiedthat he understood thatMcCargoand the
City lawyers wereconcernedabout whether the disks they were negotiating torecoveractually
existed (Tr.200,2/7/20ii),whether therecordsidentifiedin theproposedSettlement Agreement
were the entiretyofthe textmessagesprovidedby SkyTel to Stefani(Tr.202,53-4,2/7/201l),and
whether they would be able to recoverall therecords/disksthat Stefani had; andthat thequestions
of wherearethey arein thatcontext. Moreover,McCargostestimony confirms this(Tr. 33,54,
2/7/2011).

Was a statement that was false madeby silence? Itis undisputed that conversationsduring
the facilitation negotiations did includestatements concerningthe whereaboutsof the SkyTel
recordsand those who knewofthem. Although Stefani denies that specific questionswere asked
to which the answers as alleged in paragraph16 were given, headmitsthat answers toinquiries
about the existenceandavailabilityoftherecordsandthe identityofpersonswhoknewofthe text
messageswere given in somecontext, (Tr. 127, 2/7/2011). In addition, Stefani admits not
disclosing thesharingoftext messageswith theFree Pressprior to the facilitationnegotiations
(Tr. 129-130,2/7/2011) when he believed thatdoing sowould havesomeeffect on thesettlement
process(Tr. 147,2/7/201 1).

Petitioner has argued that in the contextof the discussions in the facilitationand
negotiation,Respondentsnotdisclosing thesharingoftext messageswith theFreePressviolates
the rule againstmakinga falsestatement. Petitioner relieson Comment to MRPC4,1 thatstates:

Making a false statement mayinclude the failure to make a statementin
circumstances in whichsilenceis the equivalent tomakingsuch a statement.

In support of his argument,Petitioner citesVirzi v Grand TrunkWarehouseand Cold
StorageCo, 571 F Supp507 (ED Mich, 1983),in which Judge GilmoreinterpretedModel Rule2

4.1 - adopted by the ABAlessthan twomonthsbefore theissuedateofthecourtsopinion,andfive
(5)years before adoptionofa similar rule inMichigan3

- to meanthat failureofcounsel to disclose
deathof a clientto opposingcounselduring the courseof negotiationof an insurancesettlement,
allowing the insurancecompanyslawyersto fear the testimonyof theclient as awitness should
the casego to trial, wasbasisto setaside asettlement.Petitioner contends thatthefailureof Stefani
to disclose theprior releaseoftext messagesto the Free Pressduring thefacilitationsettlement
negotiationsis highly analogous to thefailure ofcounselto revealdeathofa client. (Petitioners
ProposedFindingsof Fact and Conclusionsof Law, at 9.) The court inVirzi cited StateBar of
Michigan FormalEthicsOpinion 142 asaddressingwhat it deemed a comparable problem.That
opinion dealt with the misrepresentation by a lawyer not revealing thefactthat the client was a
minor, thereby giving the lawyerbasisto attemptto setasideany adverse ruling because the client

2 American Bar Association(ABA) Model Rules of Professional Conduct(Model Rules),first adoptedby the

ABA in 1983.

Model Rule 4.1 is derived fromCanon7 ofthe CodeofProfessionalResponsibility. DR 7-102 provided thatin
representinga client, a lawyershall notconcealor knowingly fail to disclosethat which he is requiredby law to reveal
(A)(3), or knowinglymake a falsestatementof law or fact (A)(5). Michigan adoptedits versionoftheModel Rules
in 1988,
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was a minor and the adjudicationwould thusbe invalid, This conductviolated a dutyofcandorto
a court. The duty of candor to a courtis covered byMPRC 3,3, not 4.1. The Virzi court
concluded that the obligationof candor to a court under MRPC3.3 extended to counsel for the
other party;andsaidthat itfeltthatcandorandhonestynecessarily require disclosure[to opposing
counsel]ofsuch a significant fact as the deathofonesclient, applyingModel Rule4.1 at512. The
court drew special attentionto theCommentto Model Rule 4.1: Misrepresentationscan also
occur byfailure to act.4

ABA Formal Opinion 95-397, in construing the dutyto reveal underModel Rule 4.1,
expresslycircumscribed theVirzi interpretationof theRule: Thedeathof a client means that the
lawyerno longer has a client,andif she doesthereaftercontinuein the matter,it will be on behalf
of a differentclient, At 365. Failure to disclose death misrepresents the correctnessof a fact
previouslystated, The ABA Opinion adds in note7: ... absent a priorrepresentationthat has
become false orothercircumstancescreatinga dutyto speak,a lawyer hasno generalduty to
advisehis adversaryof useful facts or promisinglegal theories. At 365, citing ABA Formal
Opinion94-387.

The ABA interpretationof Rule4.1 - that it applieswhen thereis misrepresentationby
silenceofa previouslystatedfact,anddoes notcreateofa dutyof candor toopposingparties--has
been followedin other death-of-clientcases, See,Kentucky BarAssnv Geisler,983 SW2d 578
(Ky 1997),interpreted inHarris v Jackson,192 SW3d297 (Ky. 2006). Also,seeIllinois StateBar
Opinion 96-3 statingthat an action for personalinjuriescanbe continued only by a representative
of the estateunderIllinois law, and proceeding withoutinforming third personsof thedeathis a
false statementofa prior representedfact.

Therefore,I rejeel the argumentofPetitioner thatVirzi establishes a ruleofcandor beyond
previously represented facts to beapplied to MRPC Rule 4.1, Thatdoes not end the inquiry,
however.

The law on the subjectof misrepresentationby silence or omissionis plentiful, and, in
applying the interpretativeguidanceprovidedby the Comment5,presents challenges.To what
4 .

This language in Comment [1] to Model Rule 4.1 was replaced in the 2002 amendmentsto the Model Rules
becausethe original languagewasdeemedtoo vague. SeeAnnotatedModel RulesofProfessionalConduct,Sixth
Edition (AmericanBar Association,2007,at385). Model Rule 4,1 Comment now provides: A misrepresentation
can also occur by partially true but misleadingstatementsor omissionsthat are the equivalent of affirmative false
statements.The Model Rule Comment doesnot contain a statementthat silencecan be a misrepresentation,asdoes
the MichiganComment. AlthoughMPRC Rule 4.1 is identicalto Model Rule 4.1(a), the more recent Commentto the
Model Rule hasnot beenadoptedin Michigan,andaproposalto do sowasrejected by the MichiganSupremeCourt in
ADM 2009-06.Whenthe Michigan versionof the Model Rules wasadoptedfive years after Virzi, the Comment
language that was significant to the court was not incorporated, and the language describing silence as
misrepresentation,insetin text above,was adopted.The Michigan modificationof the Model Rule Commentwas
intentional(seeMRPC 1.0 Comment). Whether Michigans Commentto Rule4,1 is intended to havethe equivalent
functionofthe original Commentto Model Rule 4.1 is unknown, but arguable at best.

As noted in MRPC Rule 1.0: The commentaccompanying eachrule explains and illustrates the meaning and
purposeof the rule. . . . The commentsare intended as guides to interpretation, but the text of eachrule is
authoritative.
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extentdoes the Comment to Rule4.1 seekto remind thelawyerof duties imposed by other lawin
relationswith third persons(constrainingboundsof advocacy),and to what extent does the
Commentinstruct that regardlessof thecommonlaw of fraud and other core valuesof the legal
profession (confidentiality, loyaltyto client), thereis a transcendentduty not todo anythingto
mislead a third personin thecourseof representinga client, embodiedin Rule 4.1? Or,to frame
thesequestions alternatively:where doesone drawtheline betweensilencethat helpsyourclient
(thusservingthe dutiesof confidentialityandloyalty) andfull disclosurewhenopposingcounsel
or parties may misapprehend a factthat is important to them in resolving amatter? The comment
to Rule4.1 identifies theissueevenif it does not clearly mark the boundary:A lawyeris required
to be truthful when dealing with otherson aclientsbehalf, but generally hasno affirmativeduty to
inform anopposingpartyof relevantfacts,

The law regardingsilentfraud -- alsoknown asfraud by nondisclosure or fraudulentconcealment
-- is quite clear in Michigan. While most frauds are based upon affirmative false representations
of material fact,[a] fraud arising from the suppressionof the truthis as prejudicial as thatwhich
springsfrom the assertionofafalsehood,andcourtshave not hesitated to sustain recoverieswhere
the truthhasbeen suppressed with the intentto defraud. Williams v Benson,3 Mich App 9,
18-19; 141 NW2d 650 (1966), quotingTompkinsv Hollister, 60 Mich 470, 483; 27 NW 651
(1886). As a result,the suppressionof a material fact, which a party in goodfaith is duty-bound
to disclose,is equivalentto a false representation and willsupportan action infraud, Id. at 19. In
short,apartyssilencewhenhe ought tospeak,orhisfailure to disclose what he oughtto disclose,
is as much a fraud asan actualaffirmative falserepresentation. Trakul v PaulA. Trakul Trust &
SandraWoodruff2008Mich App LEXIS 1935 (Sept.18, 2008); See,e.g.,Barrettv Breault,275
Mich 482; 267 NW 544 (1936);Allen vConklin, 112 Mich 74; 70 NW 339 (1897); Tompkinsv
Hollister, 60 Mich 470; 27 NW 651 (1886).

The foregoingmaximsraise thequestion: Whenis it that oneought tospeak?

Theleadingcontemporary caseon silent fraud in Michiganis M&D, Inc. v McConkey,231
Mich App 22; 585 NW2d 33 (1998). M&D, Inc. is somewhat unique in that it was decidedby a
special panelof sevenjudgesof theMichigan Court of Appeals,convenedfor the purposeof
resolving a conflictbetweena prior opinion inM&D, Inc. and Shimmons v MortgageCorp. of
America,206 Mich App 27; 520 NW2d 670 (1994). In essence,the conflict panel was askedto
consider the questionofwhetherornot nondisclosure alone was sufficient to constitutesilentfraud
in Michigan. InShimmons,the court held that aplaintiff mayallegefraudulent concealment when
a sellerhasknowledgeofa defect and fails to disclose itto the buyer (evenwhenthe purchase
agreement contains anasis clause).Id. at 29. Thespecialconflict panelrejectedtheShimmons
holding and instead adopted the rule stated inM&D, Inc. that in orderto establish a claimof silent
fraud, theremust be evidence that the seller madesome sort of representationthat wasfalse.
M&D, Inc.,231 Mich App at25. It was notenough,as inShimmons,that the seller had knowledge
ofa defectandfailedto disclose it to thebuyer.The panel further held that[a] misrepresentation
need not necessarilybe words alone, but can beshown wherethe party,if duty-bound todisclose,
intentionallysuppressesmaterial factsto create a false impressionto the otherparty. Id. In short,
M&D, Inc. standsfor the propositionthat, in Michigan,silencecannot constituteactionablefraud
unlessit occurred under circumstanceswherethere was aduty to disclose. Id. at 29.
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Central to thecourtsholdingin M&D, Inc. is the fact that the plaintiffs failed toaskthe
right questions. Plaintiffpurchased a commercial property on anasis basis. 231 Mich App at
25. The property wassubsequentlyleased to the operatorofa petsuppliesstoreand flooded after a
heavy rainfall. Id. Evidence adduced at trial showedthat thepropertyhad along historyofsuch
flooding; however, there was no evidence thatplaintiffs asked whetherthe property had
experienced any flooding, and defendants never made anyrepresentationconcerning floodingto
plaintiffs. Id. at 26. The courtdistinguishedthese facts from thosefound in Groening v
Opsata,323 Mich 73; 34 NW2d 560(1948).

In Groening,the plaintiffs wished to purchase ahomebuilt on abluff overlooking Lake
Michigan.Id. at77, Prior topurchase,plaintiffs askeddefendants whether thehomesproximity
to thebluff wasdangerousand defendants responded that thebluff was perfectlysafe. Id. at 78,
One yearafterplaintiffs had purchased the home, thebluff eroded and the home wasdestroyed.
Id. at79. Evidence offered at trial indicated that the defendants hadknownabout the erosion risk
for atleasttwo years. Id. The courtheld thatconcealmentofmaterial facts that one under the
circumstancesis bound to disclose may constituteactionablefraud and that thedefendants
answersto plaintiffs questionswere tantamount tomisrepresentation. Id. at 83. The court
explained that[the defendants]made repliesto plaintiffs specific inquires, which replies did not
bring forth the facts thatplaintiffs wereseekingto learn, but were in such form as naturally tended
to reassureplaintiffs and to cause them toproceedon the assumption that the property was not in
any danger fromerosion. Id. at 82. After reviewing the factsofGroening,theM&D, Inc. court
noted that in every case decided by the MichiganSupremeCourt, fraud by nondisclosure was
based upon statementsby the vendor thatwere made in response to aspecific inquiry by the
purchaser, which statementswerein someway incompleteor misleading.M&D, Inc., 231 Mich
App at30; See, e.g.,NowickivPodgorski,359Mich 18; 101 NW2d 371 (1960);Sullivan vUlrich,
326 Mich 218; 40 NW2d 126 (1949); Wolfev A F Kusterer& Co., 269 Mich 424; 257 NW 729
(1934).

More recentcaseshave not divergedfrom thesilent fraud doctrine outlinedin M&D, Inc.
In Hord v EnvironmentalResearch Instituteof Michigan, 463 Mich 399, 400;617 NW2d 543
(2000), theplaintiff relocatedto Michigan to take ajob and waslaid off about a yearlater.
Plaintiff alleged that hewould not have accepted thejob had he not beenpresentedwith a
misleadingoperating summaryfor the company.Id. at 402. Plaintiff argued that theoperating
summarypresenting financial data from1991 was usedto mislead him about the financial
condition of the company in1992. Id. While a divided Courtof Appeals acceptedplaintiffs
argument, the Michigan Supreme Court reversed and noted that[p]laintiff had a simple,
straightforward avenue to discoverdefendantscurrent financialcondition. He simply had to
ask. Id. at 407, quoting Hord v Environmental ResearchInst., 237 Mich App 95, 100; 601
NW2d 892 (1999)(Hoekstra,J.,dissenting). The Court reaffirmed theM&D, Inc. holding that
mere nondisclosureis insufficient to constitutesilent fraudand noted thata legal duty to make a
disclosure will arise mostcommonly in a situation whereinquiries aremadeby the plaintiff, to
which the defendant makesincompletereplies thataretruthful in themselves but omitmaterial
information,Id. at 412; SeeBuntea v State FarmMutualAuto InsuranceCo.,467 F Supp2d740,
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745 (2006)(Themisrepresentationoccurswhen a partysuppressespartofthe truthwhenasked,
notby merenondisclosure.).

Thus,with few exceptionsandnonethat govern,theabundant Michiganlaw on this point
returns us to the placewheretheinterpretationsofMRPC 4.1 left us: aMichiganlawyer has aduty
to correct a misapprehensionoffactat least when that misapprehensionarisesfrom an express or
tacit representation by theattorney.

~
settlementfalse? What distinguishes this casefrom those discussed aboveis that Respondentby
his own actions created thefalsity ofthe premise that wasmaterial:thatthe text messageswerenot
yetdisclosedbeyondthe control ofthepartiesto thesettlement.

Knowing of the uncertaintyof how the trial judge would handle the textmessages
Respondent had surreptitiouslyobtained,having reason to believe that hisobtainingthe text
message under a subpoena withoutinforming other counsel was improper, having reason to
believe that he was required to turnoverthe textmessagesto the trialjudgebut choosing not todo
so, and believing that his deliveryof text messagesto the press wouldprovidea defense toany
further effort to suppressor recover the textmessagesby the thirdpersonswith whom he was
negotiating,respondent alone advanced the premise that further disclosureof the textmessages
couldbe controlled throughsettlementandrespondent alone had already created thefalsity ofthe
premise. These unique facts distinguish the conductof respondentfrom that which has been
found acceptable in thecasesdiscussedabove. The falsity of thepremisecould not have been
known to or discoveredby the thirdpersonindependently.The premisemust be regardedas a
represented fact that wasfalse. The premise could onlybe exposed as false by asking ~uestions
that the thirdpersonhadno reason to askif the premiseofrespondentsproposal was true. Wedo
not understandanyof thecasesdealingwith misrepresentation byunstatedfactto require the third
personto pursueinquiry areyou lyingto me?when thatis the only courseofaction that could
elicit the truth.

Therefore,it is my opinion thatrespondents conductviolates MRPC4.1 because the
premiseof the negotiations andsettlement,in turns advancedand affirmed by Respondent,
constituted either a false statement when made or a priorrepresentationthat became false and was
silently allowed to be reliedon.

B. Limited by the following, I concur thatRespondentsviolation ofMRPCRule4.lis
professionalmisconductunderMRPC Rule 8.4(a)and is groundsfor disciplineunder MCR
9.104(A)(4), These rules aredefinitional, at best,and do not constituteadditional offenses.
Accordingly I find no independent meaningin them.

6 McCargostestimony is that he asked thequestions that were answeredwith additionalmisleadingand untrue

statements, but I have not considered that testimony credible in view of conflicting testimony and plausible
alternativesto what the questionsmight actuallyhave been.If McCargo had testified that he had no reasontoasksuch
questions,his testimony might have beenmorepersuasive.
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II, Dissentingstatement

I do not agree that finding a violationof Rule4.1 opens the flood gatesofRule8.4(b) and
(c) andMRPC 9.l04(A)(1),(2), and(3).

First, as notedin The Restatementofthe Law Third, The Law Governing Lawyers,§5,
commentC:

[A] specific lawyer-codeprovision thatstatesthe elementsofan offenseshould
not, in effect,be extended beyondits stated terms through supplemental application
ofa generalprovisionto conduct thatis similar but falls outsideof the explicitly
stated ground for a violation.

This deferenceto the morespecific rule whenit is supposed to applyis supportedin
Comment[1] to Model Rule4.1, which states:

[F]or misrepresentationsby a lawyer ~
client, see Rule8.4. (emphasisadded)

This matter involves representationof a client, and a specific Rulehasbeen found
applicable.There is no need to reachfor more vague and arguably inapplicable statementsof
professionalindignation.

Themajoritysapproachis that violationof all these generality rulesfollows violation of
any other rule asnight follows day. Hence, they cannot bothbe meaningful. If the dishonesty
prohibitionof Rule 8.4(b)is to be read as another Rule4,1,or simply as an effectofthecause,then
oneofthemis superfluousorboth are inadequatelywritten. The automatic applicationof a more
generalrule under the night-follows-day approach has beenrejectedin In re Haley,476 Mich. 180
(2006),applying theCanonsofJudicialEthics. It is similarly analyzed andrejectedin In re PRB
DocketNo. 2007-046andIn re PRBDocketNo. 2007-047,2009 Vt, 115, 2009Vt. LEXIS 138
(2009)in the contextofthis case- a Rule4.1 violation but refusal to apply whatis MichigansRule
8.4(b) in the absenceof conduct that indicates a lawyer lacks characterrequired for bar
membership,citing D.C. Bar Legal EthicsComm. Op 323 (2004). Mr. Stefani may have been
wrong inhis conclusions about hislegalorethicalduty,but hedid not ignorethem. I do not find
that Respondentsviolation of MRPC Rule4.1 reflects adversely onhis fitness as alawyer. To
read MRPC8.4(b) asapplyingto any dishonestywould result in overwhelming the disciplinary
process with complaints against most membersofthe bar- itwould be anabsurdapplicationofthe
Rule. There must be more thanthat. Thereis not morehere,

I would expresslyfind that Respondentsconduct in violating MRPC Rule4,1 was not
prejudicialto the administrationofjustice,in violationof Rule8.4(e)andMCR9-104(A)(1)or(3).

I may hold a minority view- certainly anarrowone -- that the8.4 subsectionsmust have
someindependent meaning beyond otherrules. If every violationofa rule invokes8.4(c),then
that shouldbe so stated in therules. Unfortunately,astudy of casesshowsthat it is commonly
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found merely as a resultofa violationof anotherrule, and I think thatis reflectedin the majority
opinionin thiscase,which offersno analysisorrationale forits finding. I could comfortablyfind
that a violationofthe3 seriesofrules,ones that actually relate to the administrationofjustice,can
beprejudicial. But would a misrepresentation under Rule4.1 in a business transaction inherently
be prejudicial to the administrationof justice? Does abetting a result thatseemsunjust
constitute prejudicing the administrationofjustice? Whose administration? Oris violation of
Rule 4.1 pre)udicialto the administrationof justice simply because itis related to an ongoing
proceeding? Itbehoovesus not tothrowhighsoundingphrases aroundlike lightning bolts in a
high senseofindignation in the adjudicationofdiscipline. Weshouldbe more discerning.Here,
I do not see thatan unjust or even unfair result occurredby Respondentsconduct, thoughothers
maydiffer. Nevertheless,violation ofRule4.1 is clear. It is sufficient unto theday,

The formal complaint alleges that Respondentsconduct violatesMCR 9.104(A)(2)
(exposes thelegal professionto obloquy, contempt,censureor reproach), andMCR9.104(A)(3)
(conduct contrary to justice).Mr. Stefanisconductin misleading Mr. McCargo has reflected on
himselfasan individual, and in my viewhis conduct did nothing to bring shame to the profession.
Further,as another panel has recentlyobservedin an unrelated case,thesevagueandill-defined
catchallrulesaddnothing to the important functionofprotecting the public, theprofession,andthe
courtsin this ease., . [R]espondentsconduct, and the conductof all other membersof thebar, is
bettermeasuredand elucidated by the more preciserules. . . analyzedabove, Grievance
Administrator vDavidT. Hill, 10-128-GA,HP Report09/20/2011,pp4-5.

DissentingStatementof ChairpersonMcGraw:

This matter, the allegationsof misconduct, testimony,exhibits andapplicable lawhardly
canbe fairly characterized assimplealthoughan experienced trial lawyer may notfind it difficult
to understand mostof what occurredhere. Indeed nothing about thispanelsefforts to weigh the
evidence,understand theapplicablelaw and carefullyapply it to the truefacts,asis manifest in the
painstaking hard work apparent in the Misconduct Report,shouldbe viewed assimpleor for that
matter, a process thatis an excusefor an academic exercise.Plainly any suchconclusions are not
right.

Obviously, and thisis indeedobvious, reasonableminds may disagree regarding the law
and factsof a disputed matter and inthat spirit I respectfully dissent fromSectionV, B of the
foregoing report onmisconduct, I would find andconcludethat Mr. Stefanistestimony during
theMcCargohearing was dishonestandprejudicial to the administrationofjustice.

A witness testifying under oath hasan obligation to tell the truth, thewhole truth, and
nothing but thetruth. A lawyer as awitnesshas this sameobligation. In testimony before the
disciplinary panel inGrievanceAdministrator v SamuelE. McCargo, Mr. Stefani declinedto
answerwhetherhe shared theSkyTel recordswith theFree Pressorwhether, before October17,
2007,he gave them toanyone.He was thenaskedDo you know who gave theSkyTelrecords to

And I note that the misconductof this Respondent,in connectionwith that proceeding,hasalreadybeen
adjudicated. Grievance Administratorv MichaelL. Stefani,CaseNo, 09-47-GA,
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theFreePress?to which he repliedI do not, no. RespondentsExhibit D at 119. Mr. Stefani
latertestified that heansweredin that manner because hedid notknowwhethertheFree Presshad
independently obtained the textmessages,andwhether those text messages wereusedin thestory.
Mr. Stefaniclaimshe hadno opportunityto explainhis answer because an objection on relevancy
groundswassustained, Tr 02/7/11 at 172-175.

I do not accept Mr. Stefanis explanation of this response. Thequestion was
straightforward.It was not tiedto anyparticularstory orpublish date. It merely inquired whether
Mr. Stefani knew who gave theSkyTel recordsto the Free Press. Mr. Stefanisanswer was
unequivocal. It was notinterrupted.He completed the answer before the objection was posed.
Nonetheless,if heneededto supplementhis answerto make it truthful, he knew, as alawyer,how
to do so. Mr. Stefani neverexpressedsuch a need,allowing an untruthful answer tostand. I
therefore concludethat Mr. Stefanisuntruthful testimony at theMcCargohearingconstitutes
misconduct within the meaningofMRPC 8.4(b) and MCR9.104(A)(2), andis prejudicial to the
administrationofjustice,contrary toMRPC 8.4(c)andMCR 9,104(A)(l).

I alsonote that the majority concludes Respondent must havemisunderstoodthe question
Do you knowwho gavetheSkyTelrecordsto theFreePresssince his flat denial at theMcCargo
hearingdoesntmake senseon accountof his careful answersto previous questionsto the same
effect. Sucha conclusionsurpassesunderstanding in viewof Respondentsadmission on cross
examinationby counselfor the Petitioner thathe lied to CharlieLe Duff of The DetroitNewson
September18, 2008, whenaskeddirectly whether he had given the text messages to themedia.
Furthermore, althoughasked about iton more thanoneother occasion,Respondentdidnt disclose
thathe had given the text messagesto theFree Pressandonly made that disclosure weeksbefore
another disciplinary proceeding initiated against him (referringto ADB Case No.09-47-GA)for
reasons thatmight advantage him there.
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I. EXHIBITS

Noneoffered.

II. WITNESSES

ThomasJ. Guyer
Angelo lafrate
LutherA. Bradley
JohnM. Peters
Michael L. Stefani

III. FINDINGSAND CONCLUSIONSREGARDINGDISCIPLINE

A. INTRODUCTION.

As stated in the Misconduct Report in thismatter, filed November 16, 2011, (the

Report), this panel found thatMichael L. Stefani committed professional misconductby

knowingly making a false statementof material fact to a third person in thecourse of

representinga client, in violation of Michigan Rule of ProfessionalConduct (MRPC) 4.1,

which declaresin its entirety that[i]n the courseof representing a client, a lawyer shall not

knowingly make a false statementof materialfact or law to a third person. The paneldid not

find that a falsestatementwas affirmatively made, butthat a false impression was createdand

reinforced by respondentdespiterespondentsknowledge that the false impression was being

relied on by defendantscounsel. (Tr. 2/7/2011, at146.) In reachingits conclusion, the panel

relied on Comment to MRPC 4.1, which states: Making a false statement mayinclude the

failure to make astatementin circumstancesin which silence is equivalentto making such a

statement. In the unique circumstancesof this case, the panel concluded thatdefendants

counsel,thethird personwith whom Mr. Stefaniwas engagedin negotiations,couldnot have

known or discoveredthat Mr. Stefanisprior actionshad already thwartedcounselsgoal of

preventingpublic disclosureof Skytel text messages,absentdisclosureof that fact by Mr. Stefani

(Report at 12); and the apparent premiseof surrenderingcontrol over the text messagesto
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defendants was created,and supportedat leastby innuendo,by Mr. Stefani. Mr. Stefanitestified

that he researchedthe law of silent fraud,which he consideredapplicable,and hadconcluded

that his conduct was not tortiousunderprevailing Michiganlaw. (Tr. 2/7/2011 at 226, 227.)

WhatMr. Stefanifailed to ascertain was that tortprinciplesunderlying the case law pertainingto

silent fraud are not relevantin determining a violationof MRPC 4.1. (Report, concurring

opinion, at 19.) We note thatapplication of MRPC 4.1 to misleadingsilence or innuendo

appearsto be without precedentin the proceedingsof the Attorney Discipline Board of

Michigan.

As a consequenceof this finding, the panelalso found thatMr. Stefani had engaged in

misconductasdefinedin MRPC 8.4(a)and MCR9.104(4). The majority opinion thenstated:

Further, our finding that Mr. Stefani knowingly made a false statementof
material fact to a third party in the course of representing a client triggers a
violation of MRPC 8.4(b) (which encompasseswithin the definition of
misconduct, conduct involving dishonesty,fraud, deceit or misrepresentation
which reflectsadverselyon the lawyershonesty,trustworthiness,or fitness as a
lawyer)andMCR9.l04(A)(3) (which prohibits conduct thatis contraryto justice.
honesty,or good morals). Such conductis also prejudicial to the administration
(and proper administration)of justice, and thereforeproscribedby MRPC 8.4(c)
and 9. 104(A)(1). Finally, it takes no great leap of faith to concludethat such
conduct exposes thelegal profession to contempt and reproach, thereby
constitutingmisconductwithin the meaningof MCR 9.l04(A)(2). For these
reasons, misconduct proscribedby MRPC 8.4(a)-(c) and MCR 9.104(A)(l)-(4)
has beenestablished.(Report,at 15.)

On February8. 2012, this panel heardevidencein oral argumentregardingappropriate

sanctionfor themisconduct.Thepanelsanalysisandfindings follow.

B. GOVERNING LEGAL STANDARDS.

Panelsof the Michigan Attorney Discipline Board (ADB) have beendirectedby the

Michigan SupremeCourt to determinean appropriatesanction forprofessional misconductby

A briefreview of Michigan law on the principlesof silent fraud involving attorneysis containedin the Reportat
pp 20-22 It indicatesthatMr Stefanisconclusionas a matteroftort law was not incorrect.
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following the analytical framework set forth in the AmericanBar AssociationStandardsFor

Imposing Lawyer Sanctions (referredto hereinas theStandardsand eacha Standard). In

GrievanceAdministratorv Lopatin, 462 Mich 235, 244 (2000. Lopatin). the SupremeCourt

explainedthat the basic goalof the attorney disciplinarysystem,as statedin MCR 9.105 is to

protect thepublic, the courts, and the legal profession. To that end, the Court directedADB

panels to conduct a threestep analysis in determining an appropriate sanction forattorney

misconduct.

The panelis to make initial inquiry by answeringthreequestions: 1) what ethicalduty

did theattorneyviolate — was it aduty to aclient, thepublic, the legal system,or theprofession?;

2) what was the lawyers mental state— did the lawyer act intentionally,knowingly, or

negligently?;and 3) whatwas theextentof the actualor potential injury causedby the lawyers

misconduct— wastherea serious or potentially seriousinjury? Lopatin, at 239.

Second,the panel mustselect a sanctionthat correspondsto the typeof misconduct

committedby the attorney from theStandardsfor avarietyof typesof misconduct.

Finally, after identifying theStandardssanction for theparticularmisconduct,the panel

may consider evidenceof relevant aggravatingand mitigating factors that mayinfluence the

appropriatenessof a sanctionunderall the circumstances.After reviewingthesefactors, the

panel decides whetherto increase or decrease the recommended sanction.Lopatin, at 240, citing

Standard9.1.

4
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C. LEGAL ANALYSIS

1. Duty Violated.MentalStateand ActualorPotentialInjury.

This panel has determined thatMr. StefaniviolatedMRPC 4.1. Inherentin the chargeof

misconductunder this ruleis that the misconduct involves a third person, in thiscase,an

opposinglawyer;andthat the charged lawyeractedknowingly. (Report, at12.)

The Report madeno findings of any injury causedby Mr. Stefanisconduct. We note

that a finding of misconduct in violatingMRPC 4.1 doesnot requireeitherrelianceby or injury

to the thirdperson. See,Restatementof the Law, Third, The Law Governing Lawyers,Section

98, cmt. C.

In oral argument in the disciplinephaseof this case,petitionerhas propoundedthe

existenceof threeinjuries: (1) had the defendants knownthat the textmessageshadalreadybeen

disclosedandthat confidentialityofthemwasno longerpossible,theywould not havesettledthe

case,at least notthen... (Tr. 2/8/2012,at 30. emph.added); (2) defendantswere deprivedof

the opportunityto seek judicialrelief [the prompt settlementthus foreclosed judicialappealof

other issues]howeverunlikely that might havebeen. (Id., emph. added);and (3) defendants

weredeprivedofthe opportunityto have an in-camerareviewofthe text messages.(id.)2

The record in the misconductphaseof this mattershowsthat the accelerationof timing of

settlement, althoughaffecting a change in conduct at themoment,provided for paymentof a

judgment thathad already beenentered,and certain attorneyfees that were less than those

statutorily permitted and which, based upontestimony of Judge Callahanin Grievance

2 Basedon the testimonyof Mr. McCargo,afterthe Skytel text messageshad been deliveredinto and takenout of
escrowby a representativeof defendant Kilpatrick in fulfilling theSettlementAgreement the parties hadentered

into, thetext messageswereneverpresentedto the court for in-camera review, even though thedefendantsremamed
unawarethat a copy of the text messages had been given toThe Detroit FreePress (Tr. 2/7/2011,at41)

5
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Administratorv. Michael L. Stefani,ADB CaseNo. 09-47-GA(Stefani r)3 would have been

awardedin the absenceof settlement. (StefaniI MisconductReport, 3/2/2010, at 22.) The text

messagesrelating to the perjuryof Mr. Kilpatrick and Ms.Beatty concerningthe firing of Mr.

Stefanisclientsand concerningtheirown relationshipwould have beenadmittedinto evidence,

thusdisclosingthe content thatdefendantscounsel wishedto conceal. Id. Thesettlementended

the continuedaccrualofjudgmentinterest,approximately$1,000per day. (Tr. 2/7/2011,at 47.)

Defendantscounselbelievedthere were no viable avenuesof legal appeal evidentin the

underlying case. Id. Whatever injuryresultedfrom the deprivationof furtherappeals was at best

tactical, in delaying what theaffectedcounselbelievedto be an inevitable conclusion andin

possibly leveraging adecreased settlementby forcing thevictorious plaintiffs to wait longerand

longer for satisfactionof their claim. Only on the basis that injury results from a changeof

position for atactical advantageof delay in paying ajudgmentcan accelerationof settlementbe

considered injurious.

The Standardsdefine injury as harm that results from the lawyers conduct; and the

harm mustbe causedto a client, thepublic, the legal systemor to the profession. The panel

recognizesthat Mr. Stefanismisconduct resulted in aSettlement Agreement,which, although

omitting representationsconcerningthe whereaboutsor past disclosureof text messageswhile

providing extensively for penalties forfuture disclosure,would not have been entered into at that

time had theMr. Stefani disclosed that hehad previously delivered acopy of the textmessages

to the press. Despite the absenceof tangible injury, this panel believes thatMr. Stefanis

StefaniI aroseout of the same underlyingfacts as this case,but in which Mr Stefani was charged with
misconductfor causingthetext messagesobtainedfrom Skytelto be deliveredto Mr Stefaniand not to the Courtas
requiredby Court Order; for failing to report another lawyer for violating Rules of Professional Conduct in
committing perjury in deposition and trialtestimony;and,by executing aconfidentiality agreementaboutdisclosure
of text messages inconnectionwith the settlementof the Brown/Nelthropeand Harris cases,for committing a
criminal act of compoundingor concealinga crime. All issuespertainingto such allegedmisconducthave been
adjudicatedin StefaniI.

6
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misconductin advancing settlement basedupon a false, unspokenpremise wasinjurious to the

legal process. We do not conclude, however,that suchinjury was serious or potentially serious

under the circumstances;and in the definitional categoriesof the Standards,we concludethat

there waslittle or no injury. As we discuss in the following section,however, impositionof

disciplineunder the appropriate Standard doesnot consider injury as afactor.

2. Determinationof theABA RecommendedSanction.

In oral argument,bothpetitionerand respondentaddressedapplicationof Standard6.1 as

the sourceof therecommendedsanction. Both acknowledged thatStandard 6.1 applies to false

statements,fraud, and misrepresentationto a court. Petitioner has urgedthat because thetext

messageswere still under an orderof a court for deliveryto the court, whatevermisconduct

occurredbecamea false statementto the court when thesettlementwasachieved. (Tr. 2/8/2012,

at 53.) ~ We rejectthis tenuous connectionas rationalizing applicationof Standard6.1. In this

case,Mr. Stefaniwas charged with violatingMRPC 4.1, false statementsto a third person,not

MRPC 3.3, candor to a tribunal,anda findingof misconductis basedon MRPC 4.1.

Both petitionerandrespondent appearto have reliedon an appendixto the Standardsthat

links Standard6.1 to misconductresulting from a violation of MRPC 4.1. Prior Attorney

Discipline Board cases have stated thatStandard6.1 doesnot apply in the caseofmisconductto

a client, the public, or otherlawyers,but appliesin the caseof misrepresentationto a tribunal.5

GrievanceAdministrator vKeith I Milan, ADB CaseNo. 06-74-GA; Grievance Administrator v

AlexanderBenson,ADB CaseNo. 08-52-GA;Grievance Administratorv KennethP. Williams,

The terms of the Settlement Agreementwere not approved by the Court, which simply issued an order of
dismissal of the Brown/Nelthropecaseon the parties representationthat the casehad beensettled. Although
acceleratedin time as a product ofthe misconduct,the Settlement Agreement itself containedno misrepresentations
The fact that the text messages had beenobtainedand notdeliveredto the Court and were then the subject of a
separateconfidentiality agreementwasnot disclosedto theCourt, butthat hasalreadybeenthesubjectoftheStefane
I disciplinaryproceeding.

The Appendixproperlynotes thatStandard6.1 applies in the case of misconduct for violation of MRPC3.3,
Candorto aTribunal.
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ADB CaseNo. 03-80-GA. Seealso, Disciplinary Matter involving West, 805 P.2d 351 (AK

1991).6

It is the dutyof a hearing panelto discern the correctdiscipline, regardlessof theparties

suggestions. Lopatin, 462 Mich. at 248, n.13; GrievanceAdministratorv JamesR. Phillips,

ADB CaseNo. 1 1-62-JC. Our review of other standardsand caselaw7 directs us to apply

Standard5.1, captioned Failure toMaintain Personal Integrity,in the caseof misconduct for

violationof MRPC 4.1 and underMRPC 8.4(b), This Standardapplies when a lawyerengages

in criminal conduct that reflects adverselyon the lawyershonesty,trustworthiness,or fitnessas

a lawyer in other respects, orin caseswith conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or

misrepresentation.8

Standard5.1 provides a four part strataof disciplinary consequence— disbarment,

suspension, reprimand,and admonition.— dependingon the severityof themisconduct. In each

stratumit is necessary tofind that thelawyersconduct insomedegree reflects adverselyon the

lawyers fitnessto practice.9 Disbarment(Standard5.11) is an appropriate sanction when the

6 The one exceptionappearsto be Grievance Adnnnistratorv. Mark T Light, ADB CaseNo. 98-198-GA, in which

Standard6.1 wasapplied in thecaseof a misrepresentationto the AttorneyGrievance Commission,which is not a
tribunal SanctionsunderStandard6.1 were imposedin GrievanceAdministratorv. George TKrupp, ADB Case
No. 96-287-GA in a conflation of misconduct under MRPC3.3 and MRPC4 1 (moreappropriatelya MRPC 3.4
than a 4.1 violation) arising out of the sameconduct,which occurred in a court room. Although itappearsto be a
case in which 6.1 was used when a MRPC4.1 violation occurred,it can be explainedthat the greaterapplicable
çenalty,or moreonerousdiscipline,was be imposedwhentwo choicesare available.

See,In re Rosen,198 P 3d 116,2008 Cob Lexis I 735(CO.2008)
In the Michigan Rules of ProfessionalConduct,Rule 8 4(b) combinesthe dishonesty.etc. andcriminal conduct

offenses, whereasin the Model Rules ofProfessionalConduct,misconductinvolving criminal conductadversely
reflecting on the lawyers fitness is the subject of Rule 8 4(b), and dishonesty,etc.. without considerationof
reflectionon lawyer fitness,is thesubjectof Rule8.4(c). Standard5.1 appliesto both ModelRulesandto Michigan
Rule 8.4(b).

We observethat fitnessto practiceis expressedin threeways in Standard5.1 The preamble in Standard5.1
qualifies criminalconductas that which reflectsadverselyon a lawyersfitnessas a lawyer in otherrespects(other
than honestyor trustworthiness)but omits any referenceto any such reflection asto dishonesty,etc. — effectively
replicating the patternof Model Rules 84(b) and 84(c) However, Standard5.11 (Disbarment)pertains to
dishonesty,etc. that reflects on the lawyers fitnessto practice.while Standard5.13 (Reprimand)and Standard
5 14 (Admonition) referto alawyers fitnessto practicelaw. Becausethereis no criminal conductimplicated in
this case,we disregardthe phrasefitnessas a lawyerin otherrespectsand areguidedby the specific referenceto

8
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conductis intentional and the dishonesty,etc. seriously adverselyreflects on the lawyers

fitness to practice. Suspension (Standard5.12) is appropriatewhen the conductis knowing

andreflectsseriouslyon fitness.° Reprimand(Standard5.13) is appropriate when the conduct

is knowing but thereflectionon fitnessis lessthanseriouslyadverse.

Fitnessto practice. Otherthan the conclusionof the majorityofthis panelthat violation

of MRPC 4.1 triggers a result thatthe respondentsfitness as a lawyer has beenadversely

reflected upon (Report, at 15), the panel has made no findings or previously drawn any

conclusionon this subject. No evidence or argument was presented at either themisconduct

hearing or the discipline hearingaddressingthe subjectof fitnessto practicelaw.

We believe itis notunreasonableto concludein this case that thedishonestyfoundin the

violation of MRPC 4.1 reflectsadverselyon the respondentsfitness to practice law, however

temporally;and the thresholdfor consideringa sanctionunder Standard5.1 is thus met. We

haveno basis,however,to concludethat theconductreflectsseriously on respondentsfitness,

and do not. Accordingly, neither Standard 5.11 nor Standard 5.12can be consideredas

expressingpresumptively appropriatesanctions.

Knowing or Intentional Misconduct A factor in ascertaining the presumptively

appropriatesanctionunder Standard5.1 is the stateof mind of the lawyer. Standard5.11 links

intentionalmisconductwith disbarment,and Standard5.13 links knowing misconductwith

fitnessto practice(law) in the strataof disciplinary consequencespertainingto dishonesty,etc. notwithstanding
theomissionof that qualifier in the preamble~ It hasbeennotedin prior ADB casesthat Standard5.12 omits mention of dishonesty,etc. misconduct,andrefers

only to certaincriminalconduct, thuson its face precluding presumptiveapplicationof suspensionfor conductnot
specified. See, e g., Grievance Administrator v Arnold Al Fink, ADB No. 96-l8l-JC, at 8, Grievance
Administratorv. Kenneth PWilliams. ADB No. 03-08-GA, at 6. By its Order closing ADMFile No 2002-29, the
Michigan Supreme Court left in place the Standardin the form promulgated bythe American Bar Association,
although a change to harmonize it with its fellow Standards was recommended by the Report ofthe ADB to the
Michigan Supreme Court RegardingProposedMichigan Standardsfor Imposing LawyerSanctions(June2002).
Thus the Court appears to have sanctioned the limitation of Standard 5.12 to certain criminal matters only, as it
reads. Howthis should affect application of Lopatin n.13 is unclear. Wedo not apply it for other reasons, however.

9
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reprimand. In the Report, the panel found that the misconduct wasknowing, as that is an

elementof finding a violationofMRPC 4.1. In addressingthe applicationof Standard6.1 atthe

discipline hearing,petitionerargued thatStandard6.12 would be a better fit in this case than

Standard6.11 becauseStandard6.12 doesnot requirethat conduct involve intent todeceive,

whereasStandard6.11 does. (Tr. 2/8/2012,at 52.) Respondent hastestifiedthathe researched

the law of silent fraud,that he never madeany affirmatively untrue statements (the panel found

none),that he knewdefendantscounsel was missing thekey factabout whichhe believedhe had

no duty to enlightenhim, but would have told thetruth if asked. (Tr. 2/7/2012, at 201.) He did

not intend to lie. All this indicates a clearplan to not reveala key fact unless asked.In lay

terms,it appearsintentional,although neither petitioner nor respondent hasso characterizedit.

The Standardsprovide definitions of intent and of knowing conduct that are not

particularlyhelpfUl. Intent is defined as the conscience objective orpurposeto accomplish a

particularresult. Knowledge is defined asconscious awarenessof the nature or attendant

circumstancesof conduct, but without theconscienceobjective or purposeto accomplish a

particularresult.

We are without factual or legal basisto reach a conclusionthat the respondents

knowing conduct wasintentional conduct as that has been appliedin other ADB casesto

meet the level of behavior requiredby Standard 5.11, such that it would provide the

presumptively appropriate sanction, Wealso take into account the argumentof petitioner in

urging a sanction based onknowing,not intentional,behavior.

For the foregoing reasons,specifically,the lackofintentionalasopposedto knowing

conduct,and the absenceof seriousreflectionon the respondentsfitnessto practicelaw, we

concludethat sanctionunder Standard5.11 or Standard5.12 (were it drafted to applyto the
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misconduct)is not presumptivelyappropriate.We concludethatreprimandis the presumptively

appropriatesanction under Standard5.13.

3. RelevantAggravatingand MitigatingFactors,

Oncea presumptivelyappropriateStandardhas been identified, the panel may consider

aggravatingand mitigating circumstancesto consider whether the Standardprovidesa correct

sanction. Standard9.1. The Standardsprovideno guidanceabouttheweightany of thefactorsis

to be given, or what it takesto be aggravatedor mitigated from a presumptivelyappropriate

Standardsanctionto another I

Petitioner haspositedthe following factors as aggravating circumstancesto be considered

in imposingdiscipline(Tr. 2/8/2012, at31-34):

• Respondentssubstantialexperience in the practiceof law--Standard9.22(i). The

record shows that Mr. Stefani has practiced law for more than40 years (Tr.

2/8/2012 at 23).

• Dishonest or selfish motive—Standard. 9.22(b),by achieving an accelerated

settlement,while ensuring that the textmessagesweremadepublic)2

• RefUsal to acknowledgewrongfUl nature of conduct—Standard 9.22(g),by

continuingto insisthe did not lie to Mr. McCargo,by blamingothersfor blocking

delivery of text messages,and by misleading thepublic that the courtwould

suppressthemessagesduring thecourseofthecase.

~ As summarizedin Grievance Administratori Ralph£ Musilli, ADB Case No. 98-216-GA, citing Lopatinn.13:

In the final stepof theprocessofdetermining the appropriatediscipline,panelsand theBoard
must considerwhetherthe ABA Standards have, in theirjudgment,led to an appropriate
recommendedlevel of discipline in lightoffactorssuchasMichiganprecedent,andwhetherthe
Standardsadequatelyaddressthe effectsof themisconductor theaggravatingand/ormitigating
circumstances.

12 Petitioner has asserted that this was a matter of Mr Stefani eating his cake and having it, too. (Tr 2/8/2012, at
31.) There hasbeen no allegationofmisconductfor makingthetext messagespublic.
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Respondentscounselarguedthat thecleanrecordof Mr. Stefaniover hislengthy career

demonstratesthat the misconduct wasaberrational.Respondent offered as mitigatingfactors(Tr.

2/8/2012at 41-43):

• Absenceof a prior disciplinaryrecord—Standard9.32(a),other than the related

matterofStefaniI.

• Absenceof a dishonest orselfishmotive—Standard 9.32(b).

• Cooperativeattitudetoward theproceedings—Standard.9.32(e).

• Characterandreputation—Standard 9.32(g).

• Impositionof other penalties orsanctions—Standard9.32(k).

• Remorse—Standard9.32(1).

This caseis intertwined withStefani I,which aroseout of the same underlying facts as

this case,but in which Mr. Stefani was chargedwith misconductfor other matters,13 In the

courseof the misconducthearingin StefaneI, Mr. Stefani admittedthat hehad given the text

messagesto a reporter at the DetroitFree Press. The GrievanceAdministrator thensoughtto

amend or supplementits Complaintto add chargesof misconduct relating toMr. Stefanisprior

testimonyto the contrary, but the request was opposedby Mr. Stefani and was denied by the

hearing panel in that caseon constitutionalgroundsof dueprocess.As that case thenproceeded,

misconductwas found only asto the chargebasedon failure to turnthe textmessagesoverto the

Court, a violationof MRPC 3.4(c). In its discipline report issuedJune23. 2010, that hearing

paneldetermined that the presumptivelyappropriatesanction forrespondentsconduct was under

Standard6.22, calling for suspension,but found sufficient mitigating factors to impose a

reprimand. TheBoard, in an opinion dated May11, 2011. modified the hearingpanelsorder of

See note 3.
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discipline of reprimandto suspensionof respondentslicense for 30 days,agreeingwith the

hearingpanelsdetermination that suspension was the presumptively appropriatesanction,but

finding that there was insufficientmitigation to justify the lesser impositionof reprimand)4

The presentcaserelatesto the conduct that wasnot subjectedto dispositionin Stefani I,

but its relationshipto it is undeniable—suchthat petitionerhas concededthat thediscipline

imposedon Mr. Stefani in that caseshouldbe creditedor offset against discipline in thiscase.

(Tr. 2/8/2012at 28-29.) We notealso that petitionerdid not positas aggravating factorsin this

case either the prior disciplinary offensein Stefani I (Standard 9.22(a)),or that the findingof

misconductin Stefaniland in this case manifestedmultiple offenses (Standard 9.22(d)).

There seemto be several courses forus to follow in reaching our determinationof

disciplinary sanction. Oneis to considerthis and the prior case as effectivelysingular,as the

Grievance Administrator sought originally, and determine the appropriate discipline with

findings of two acts of misconduct,considering the presumptivelyappropriate sanctionof

suspension for the misconduct found inStefani I.andactuallyapplied,andthemisconductin this

case asan aggravating factor,multiple offenses(Standard 9.22(d)).Another is to disregardall

linkagebetween thetwo casesand findings of factin Stefani I,exceptfor its existenceas a prior

disciplinary offenseto be considered asan aggravatingfactor in thiscase. A third is to reach a

conclusionin this caseand thenreflect on how it fits with the results inStefaniI Clearly, it

seemsfundamentallyfair to considerthat neither the Administrator nor respondentshould be

eitherworseor betteroff as amatterof disciplinaryconsequenceas a resultof bifurcationof the

charges.

The statementsin this paragraph arebasedon the HearingPanelsMisconductReportin ADB Case No, 09-47-
GA, March 2, 1010, at 2-4, that panels Order Denying Motion to Supplement the Formal Complaint, dated
November 2,2009; and the BoardOpinion dated May 11,2011.
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If we follow the first coursenotedabove,we observetheprior hearingpanelsviews of

the sameaggravatingand mitigating circumstances presentedin this case:

[Wje disagree with thePetitioners assertionthat Mr. Stefani
refusedto acknowledge the wrongful natureof his conduct. Mr.
Stefaniadmittedthat he did not usegood judgment. (Tr at79,
10/8/09). Finally, the paneldeclinesto adoptPetitionersposition
thatMr. Stefanislong careerandhis service as avolunteerpanelist
for the AttorneyDiscipline Board constitute aggravating factors.
As discussedbelow, we consider the factthat Mr. Stefani has
practicedlaw for over40 yearswithout any disciplinary recordto
be a mitigating,not aggravating,factor in this analysis.

Several mitigating factors are relevantto our continuedanalysis.
Mr. Stefani has hadno record of professional misconduct or
disciplineduring the 41 yearshe has beenlicensedto practicelaw
in this State. and the misconduct underreview by this panel
appearsto have beenan aberration unlikelyto be repeated. There
also was no evidence thatMr. Stefani was motivated by a
dishonest pecuniary motivein settling the BrownfNelthropeand
Harris cases. In fact, the evidenceshowed that he accepted a
reduced attorney fee as part of the settlement of the
BrownfNelthrope and Harris cases. Mr. Stefani testified that
although it was highly likely that his clients would prevail on
appeal and ultimately receivesome $10 to 12 million (with a
potential for attorneyfees on appealfor Mr. Stefani).his clients
were strongly in favor of receiving less if it meant that the
litigation would end then. (Tr. 83-84, 11/12/09.) The evidence
established that the parties agreedto settle both the
Brown/Nelthropecase,as well as a case betweenWalter Harris
and the City of Detroit, for atotal of $8 million. As part of the
settlement,Mr. Stefani withdrewhis request forstatutoryattorney
fees under the Whistleblowers Protection Act, which he had
calculatedas being some $ 958,000. (PetitionersExhibits 8, 12,
15.) Ratherthanrevealing adishonestfinancial motive, we believe
Mr. Stefanisconduct in this regard indicated insteadthat he was
focusedon his clientsbest interestsandexpress wishesin pursuing
a settlementoftheircases.

Furthermore, Mr. Stefani demonstrated a cooperativeattitude
throughout these proceedings. Inaddition, the panel heard
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testimony from ninewitnesseswho spokeof his character and

integrity throughouthis long career. (Tr. 61-85, 1 1/18/2009.)15

Our conclusions regarding aggravatingandmitigating factorsdo not differ substantively

from thoseof the hearing panel in thatcase,and wespecificallynote thefollowing:

• Respondentsconduct post-judgmentin the Brown/Ne/thropecase,actionsthat

resultedin StefaniI and this case,appearsto be unique in along and respected

career;and we believeis unlikely to occuragain.

• Respondentslong career, though in theory justifying an expectation that

experienceshould have informed him, has otherwise demonstratedthat he is a

lawyerof good character. The panelnotesthat respondent called a totalof nine

characterwitnessesin the misconduct and discipline hearings, all of whom

testifiedto Mr. Stefaniseffectivecounselandintegrity in all aspectsof his career.

without challenge.(Tr. 2/7/2011, at236-252;Tr. 2/8/2012, at 6-19.)

• Respondent was not carelessin forming his courseof conduct. He believedthat

he waswithin legal bounds, based on research. Although the resultof the

researchwasnot adequateunder the circumstances, he pursued a lawyerlycourse

of action infonninghis conduct.

• Respondentsdefenseof his conduct through the misconduct phaseof this case

cannot be construed as a refusalto acknowledgethe wrongful nature of his

conduct. At the misconduct hearing,he testified to remorseabout letting Mr.

McCargo believe something that wasnt so, and struggled with hisconscience

aboutthat while continuing to believehe was doing the rightthing on behalfof

his clients. (Tr. 2/7/2011, at 204-205.) Respondent testifiedthat it was not until

IS Discipline Reportof Tn-CountyHearingPanel No 26, in Grievance Administratorv. MichaelL Stefani,ADB

Case No 09-47-GA, at 6-8.
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he read the Reportdid he comprehendthat he had been wrong,and so

acknowledgedit, expressingremorse. (Tr. 2/8/2012, at 22-24.)

• Ethics case lawand commentaryon the subjectof false statementsby omission,

which differs from tort law, is by no meansclear oruniform; and even when

reasonablyresearched does not readily provide absoluteanswers. Indeed,the

right to maintainsilenceaboutfacts is alsorecognized in Commentto MRPC 4.1,

stating that a lawyergenerallyhas no affirmative duty to inform an opposing

party of relevantfacts, The duty is to not misinform, but theterritory between

the right, even theduty, not to inform, on one hand, and when silence is the

equivalentto making afalse statement,on the other, maybe referredto as an

ethicalno-manslandin which the lawyer may findlessguidancethansought.6

• There was not aselfish or dishonestmotive. The effortto bring thelitigation to

an end—post-judgment—wasin the interestof respondentsclients, and actually

resulted in fees to respondentless than may have beenawardedand actually

benefitted defendantsin severalrespects—controlledthe feeaward and ended

accruing intereston judgment. The motive to settle was client directedand

serving. Disclosing the textmessagesto the Free Press was notevidenceof a

selfish motive in making afalsestatementto Mr. McCargo.

• It appears thatrespondenthascooperated fully with theproceedingsin this case.

16 See,Michael H. Rubin,TheEthics ofNegotiations Are There Any?, 56 La. L. Rev447 (1995);BarryR. Temkin,
Misrepresentationby Omission in Settlement Negotiations. Should There Be A Safe Harbor7, 18 Geo. J. Legal
Ethics 179 (2004); Monroe H. Freedman,In Praise of Overzealous Representation—Lying to Judges,Deceiving
Third Parties, and Other Ethical Conduct,34 HofstraL. Rev. 771 (2006) Although themajority opinion would
characterizethebehaviorasan obviousviolation ofMRPC 4.1. theopinionis basedon its regardoftheconductand
abhorrence of Mr Stefanistactics. The concurringopinion found thelegal conclusionof misconductmuch more
difficult to reach,and the violationless than obvious. If the majority opinion were tobe read as instructionto the
professionthat silenceabout a known fact in negotiationsis unacceptable,it would be a seriousmisinterpretationof
the opinion and of the law. The key fact inthis case is that Mr. Stefani createdthe information central to the
negotiationthat was withheld,andthen made statementsthat implicitly representedthecontrary.
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• Thereis little orno injury as aresultof themisconduct.

• Although thepanel found violations of three additional Rules of Professional

Conduct and several Court Rulesasa resultof the violationof MRPC 4.1 (Report,

at 15), all were the resultof a single offense,and do not themselves constitute

multiple offenses.

There aretwo presumptivelyappropriatesanctionsfor the misconductfound, suspension

for theStefczniI misconduct andreprimandfor the misconduct in thiscase. If thetwo cases were

combined,would a sanctiongreater thanthat imposedin StefaniI - suspension for30 days- be

justified? Certainly the existenceof multiple offenseswould be an aggravatingfactor, but it

appearsto bethe onlysuchfactor, in the presenceof acceptable mitigatingfactors. If the hearing

panel inStefaniI had ordered suspension for30 days, initially, would thehearingpanel have

consideredit necessary toincreasethe lengthof that suspension with asingle aggravating factor

of a second offense,or just been satisfiedthat there wasclearly no basis for the mitigation it

found? And would the Board have then found it necessaryto increasethe lengthof suspension

beyond the 30 days it then imposed? Thereis no objective basis for us to answer these

questions. If this panel assumed the roleof disciplinarian for thetwo cases ascombined,should

it substituteits judgmentover anotherpanelsand of theBoard itself in determiningwhat should

have beendoneif all matters had been before asinglepanel?

In seekingguidanceon suchqueries,we have consideredADB casesin which offenses

involving a courtanda third party were found. InGrievanceAdministratorv. GeorgeT Krupp,

ADB CaseNo. 96-287-GA,the respondenthad been foundto have violated MRPC3.3(a)(1),

MRPC 3.3(a)(4),andMRPC 3.4(b) inmaking a misrepresentationto a court;and MRPC 4.1, in

making the same misrepresentationto opposingcounsel;with resultingmisconduct underMRPC
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8.4(a)-(c)andMCR 9.104(1)-(4). The misconduct involved presentationof a falsereport on the

mentalconditionofa party. A review of theBoardsopinion datedApril 4, 2002revealsthat the

hearing panel consideredStandards6.11, 6.12 and 9.0; and, as a resultof mitigating factors,

imposedsanction under Standard6.12. only, insteadof disbarmentunderStandard6.11, which

the panel found was the presumptively appropriatesanction. Respondentappealedthe hearing

panelsorder,seekingto decrease thelengthof suspensionfrom 90 days. Neitherrespondent nor

petitioner challenged the impositionof suspension.TheBoardnoted that the hearing panelhad

found as aggravating factors selfish motiveof respondentand vulnerability of the victim of

misconduct; and that the panelhad afforded some weight to a finding that respondent

committed multipleoffensesandengagedin a patternof misconduct.17Here theBoardstated:

There is no evidence to establish that the respondent made
misrepresentationsin a seriesof casesor to more thanone court.
Instead, the panel foundMr. Krupps ongoingbehaviorin refusing
to turn over the letterto [opposing counsel]constituted repeated
attemptsto camouflagehis dishonesty. This, the panelconcluded,
amountedto multiple offensesof wrongdoing and a patternof
misconduct. Krupp, at 13.

In mitigation, the panel gave some weightto respondentscooperativeattitude in the proceedings

andsubstantialweight to respondentscharacterand reputation in thelegal community,as well

as todelayin adjudicating thematter. Id.

Of significancein Krupp is that the panelmitigated the sanctionfrom disbarment,that

which was presumptively appropriate,to a moderate-lengthsuspension.The aggravatingfactors

werenot sufficienteven tojustify staying with the presumed sanction,orto merit asuspensionof

more than179 days. TheBoard observedthat the parties had cited disciplinecasesinvolving

misrepresentationranging from reprimandto revocation,and that the differencesin result were

~ The Board vacated the panels finding of a violation of MRPC3,4(a). In imposingthe sanction underreview,this
additionaloffensewas consideredby thepanel
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relatedto the natureof the misrepresentation.Krupp, at 15. The Board affirmed thepanels

order.

What we maydraw from Krupp is that theaggravatingfactor of multiple offensesin a

easein which misrepresentationis one offense does not dictatedeparturefrom presumptively

appropriatediscipline foroneactof misconduct.andmay even be mitigatedto lesserdiscipline.

If we consider thetwo Stefani casesassingular, there is no requirementthat thetwo offenses

direct usto impose a more restrictive sanction than has beenalreadyimposed.

Consideringthe secondcourseof action available,in the misconductphaseof this case

the panel purposefullydisregardedthe relationshipof StefaniI to this case,and heardthis case

independently. Pursuing that approach, the sanction imposedshould be considered

independently,with the prior disciplinary offense considered asan aggravatingfactor. If an

aggravatingfactor, it too appearsto be the only such factor,in the presenceof acceptable

mitigating factors.

If we wereto consider that the prioroffenseis a sufficiently significant aggravating factor

to increasethe discipline from that presumptively appropriate,reprimand, to imposition of

suspension,the lengthof that suspensionwould haveto be consideredin light of thepetitioners

concessionthat we consider the 30-day suspensionas a credit toward the ultimate sanction in this

case. If credit for prior discipline is applied, then suspension in thiscasewould needto be

orderedfor a period longerthan30 days to haveany further disciplinaryeffect on respondent.In

other words,a suspension for30 daysin this casewould record aseconddisciplinary actionbut

have no other effecton respondent. Thus, not only would we need toimpose a sanction

appropriatein the easeof conductthat seriouslyadverselyreflects on respondentsfitness to

practice law when we have not found thatto be true, we would needto go beyondthe minimum
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disciplinefor that sanction, andimposea longerthanminimumsuspension!8Thatdetermination

seemsbeyond reasonfor the offense foundhere, given the presumptively appropriate sanction

for it alone.

Between thetwo choices, weconcludethat thiscaseshouldbe treatedon its own, andnot

as a theoreticalcombinationwith it predecessor.That leaves us freeto consider the sanction

without relationshipto credit for prior discipline. Having carefully consideredthe recordin

Stefani I,and in light of all the aggravatingand mitigating factors,discussedabove,we do not

find the prior disciplinary offense sufficiently aggravatingto departfrom the sanction considered

initially appropriatefor the misconductin this case underStandard5.13, and tojustify imposing

a sanction greater than the minimum for theincreasedcategory. For thatreason,we will impose

sanctionof reprimand.

We find the conductof respondent to have been, at theleast, disappointing,given the

establishedcharacter and reputationof respondent,even under the trying circumstancesof the

litigation in which events occurred givingrise to the two incidentsof misconduct. This case

demonstratesthat any ofus in the profession canundothemselves by rationalizing conduct under

tort principles rather than ethicsin pursuit of otherwise legitimategoals. Further, a lawyer

shouldnot be encouragedto engagein misleading behaviorby a lessthan diligentopponent. Mr.

Stefanis artificewould havebeenexposedhad Mr. McCargoprovided for a representation asto

prior disclosurein the SettlementAgreementor later Confidentiality Agreement. The fact that

he did not does notjustif~Mr. Stefanisconductin any respect.

LS If the initial minimum suspensionis creditedon a sanctionhere, there is some question as to whether the

minimum suspensionthat could be imposedhere is 30 days, orat a minimum30 days more.MCR9.106(2).
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D. DISCIPLINE,

Accordingly, we impose the sanctionof reprimand,without conditions. MCR 9.106(3).

This public recordofdiscipline serves the basic goalof the disciplinary system announcedby the

MichiganSupremeCourt: to protect thepublic, thecourts,andthe legal profession19because it

openly and permanently memorializesMr. Stefaniswrongdoing, but without furtheraffecting

his right to practice, which we findunnecessary.This standsas another permanent recordof

respondentsmisconduct. This is the majority opinionof the panel. Chairperson McGraw

dissentsfrom this opinion as statedbelow.

IV, PRIOR DISCIPLINE

ADB Case No. Discipline Effective Date

09-47-GA 30 day suspension 01/01/12

V. ITEMIZATION OF COST

Attorney GrievanceCommission:
(SeeItemized Statementfiled 2/27/12) $6.05

Attorney Discipline Board:
ConferenceCall Held 11/3/10 $3.53
Pretrial HearingHeld 1/14/11 $235.00
ConferenceCall Held2/2/11 $4.64
Hearing Held2/7/11 $1,004.00
ConferenceCall Held 3/15/11 $2.78
HearingHeld 3/29/11 $467.00
Hearing Held 2/08/12 $254.00

Administrative Fee [MCR 9.128(B)(1)] $1,500.00

TOTAL: $3,477.00

ATTORNEY DISCIPLINEBOARD
Tn-CountyHearing Panel#25

Dated: August31, 2012 Stepl~~1i.McGraw, Chairperson , , ~

€~/~~/

~ GrievanceAdministrator v Lopaun,462 Mich 235, 244 (2000), MCR9 105.
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DISSENTINGOPINION OF CHAIRPERSONSTEPHEND. McGRAW:

I respectfully dissent from themajoritys conclusion as to the appropriate disciplineto be
imposedupon Mr. Stefani. I also disagreewith the findings and legal analysis whichform the
premise for themajoritysconclusion. In my view, a higher level of disciplinecommensurate
with the seriousnessof the misconductis required. I would suspendMr. Stefani from the
practiceof law for aperiodof 90 days, with credit for the30 days already servedin Stefani I.

To begin, the majorityrecites that The panel did not find that a false statementwas
affirmatively made, but that a false impression was createdandreinforcedby respondent despite
respondentsknowledge that the false impressionwas beingrelied on by defendantscounsel.
Discipline Report at2. Seealso Discipline Reportat 10 (statingthat respondent testifiedthat he
never madeany affirmatively untruestatementsand the panel foundnone). I disagreewith
this characterizationof the Panelsfindings. In its Misconduct Report,this Panelclearly found
that Mr. Stefanimade afalsestatement.The Misconduct Reportstatesat pages11-12:

The first issue we must addressis whether theAGC has established by a
preponderanceof the evidence thatstatementsmade or omittedby Mr. Stefaniin
the courseof settlementnegotiations violateMRPC 4.1 and MRPC 8.4(a)-(c)of
the Michigan Rulesof Professional Conduct,and/or MCR9.1 04(A)(1 )-(4) of the
Michigan CourtRules. We answeraffirmatively.

MRPC 4.1 requires a lawyerto be truthful in his statementsto others.It provides
that, In the courseof representing a client, a lawyer shallnot knowingly make a
false statementof material factor law to a third person. MRPC 4.1. While the
RulesCommentsemphasizethat a lawyer generallyhasno affirmative duty to
inform an opposingparty of relevantfacts, it follows the law in explainingthat
a falsestatementmay include thefailure to make a statement in circumstances in
which silenceis equivalentto makingsuch astatement.

On the basisof Mr. Stefanistestimony, wefind that statementsMr. Stefani
made to Mr. McCargo regardingthe location of the text messagesand their
confidential status, as well as statements he knowingly omitted, violate the
above rules.

(emphasisadded).

Becausethe Panel plainly concludedthat a false statement was in fact made, itis
inaccurate and indeed confounding that the majoritystates application of MRPC 4.1 to
misleadingsilence or innuendo appears tobe without precedentin the proceedingsof the
Attorney Discipline Board of Michigan. Discipline Report at3. This gratuitous statement
implies that Mr. Stefanis conduct was borderline and less deserving of disciplinary
consequences.That clearly is not so. The misconducthereis well within the prohibitionof the
cited rules.
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It is worthwhile to mention thePanels findings entirely relied upon Mr. Stefanis
testimonyandadmittedfalsestatements.SeeMisconduct Report at3. (We therefore relyupon
Mr. Stefanisown testimonyin making the following findings of fact.) This includesMr.
Stefanisfalse statements regarding the whereaboutsof thetext messages.As we explainedin
the MisconductReport:

For purposesof the decision we render heretoday, it is not necessary to resolve
this factual dispute, and we merelyassumethat the facts are as recitedby Mr.
Stefani. Mr. Stefani admits to beingaskedwe want the textmessages,whereare
they, will you give themto us. [Tr. 2/7/11] at 128, 200. Mr. Stefaniresponded
that they could not have the textmessagesand that they needed anescrow
agreement. As to the whereaboutsof the textmessages,Mr. Stefani told them
there was a copyin his office safe, anotherin a safeat his house,and another
copy on his desk. Hedid not disclose thecopy that had been givento Mr.
Schaefer.Mr. Stefanitestifiedas follows:

A. .. . So,at theend, he asked,We want themessages.

I said, you canthave themessages.Wevegot to at least
have an escrow agreement.

And he said, Well, where are they? And thesafe is right
there. I mean, theconferenceroom is much smaller— its like that
water tank over there.

I said, Its in that safe overthere. And Idid, I did open the
safe andtakeout theenvelopeand showedthem the envelope. I
didnt go inside of the envelope,but I showed them it was an
ovemight thing fromSkyTel so they would have— they know I
wasntmisleadingthem.

Q. Did you alsotell Mr. MeCargothat you had another copy at
a safein yourhouse?

A. Yes, I toldMcCargo that I had anothercopy at my house,
andI hadanothercopy I thought lyingon my desk.
Q. But you, of course,did not tell him there was a copyin the

possessionofMr. Schaefer?

A, No, I didnt. And I hadto be —

Q. Thankyou, you answeredthequestion.

Id. at 129-130.

Misconduct Report at 6-7.Further,as the Misconduct Reportstates,Mr. Stefaniacknowledged
that he maneuveredopposingcounselinto settling the caseby letting thembelievethe text
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messages would be keptconfidential,somethinghe knew was untrue. Misconduct Report at7,
citing Tr. 2/7/11 at 146. As Mr. Stefani furthertestified:

A. ... Theresno questionthat I let them believeone thing thatwasntaccurate.
They didnt ask meany questionsaboutis this all youve given. ... [T]heresno
question,if they had known I hadgiven themessages,wewouldnt havesettledit
that day.

Misconduct Report at8, citing 2/7/11 Tr. at 146-147.

In Grievance Administrator vLopatin, 462 Mich 235, 238;612 NW2d 120 (2000), the
Michigan SupremeCourt directed hearing panelsto be guided by the ABA Standardsfor
Imposing Lawyer Sanctionswhendetermining theappropriatemisconductsanction. Under the
Lopatin framework,the first steprequires the disciplinary panelto answerthreequestions:

(1) What ethical duty did the lawyer violate? (Aduty to a client, thepublic, the
legal system,orthe profession?)

(2) What was thelawyers mental state? (Did the lawyer actintentionally,
knowingly, or negligently)?

(3) What was the extentofthe actual or potentialinjury causedby the lawyers
misconduct? (Was there a serious or potentially serious injury?)

Id. at 239. After making theseinitial determinations,the Panelmust consult the relevantABA
Standardsto determine therecommendeddiscipline for themisconductat issue. Then thePanel
mustconsiderwhetherrelevantaggravatingor mitigating factorswarrant anincreaseor decrease
of theotherwise applicablesanction.Id at 240 This processis not inflexible,however.Lopatin
preservesand emphasizes thePanelsresponsibility to exercise independent judgment when
appropriate, explaining:

We caution theADB and hearing panels that our directive to follow theABA
standards is not an instruction to abdicate their responsibility to exercise
independent judgment. Where, forarticulatedreasons, theADB or a hearing
panel determines that theABA standardsdo not adequately consider the effectsof
certain misconduct,do not accurately address the aggravating ormitigating
circumstancesof a particular case,or do not comportwith the precedentof this
Court or the ADB, it is incumbenton the ADB or the hearing panelto arrive at,
andexplain the basisfor, a sanction or result thatreflectsthis conclusion.

Id. at247, n13.

Considering the firstLopatin factor, in my view Mr. Stefanismisconduct violated his
duty to the professionand to theCourt. As to the secondand third factors, for the reasons
discussedbelow, I do not agreewith the majoritys conclusion that the misconduct wasnot
intentional, that it was neitherseriousor potentially serious under thecircumstancesor that
therewas little or no injury. Discipline Report at6, 10. I further disagree with themajoritys
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determinationthat the governingguidelineis Standard5.1, which neitherof the parties argued at
the discipline hearing wasapplicable. I believe, asdo the parties,that Standard6.1 governs.
Standard6.1 states:

6.1 FalseStatements,Fraud,andMisrepresentation

Absentaggravatingor mitigating circumstances, upon applicationof the factors
set out in Standard3.0, the following sanctionsare generallyappropriate incases
involving conduct that is prejudicial to the administrationof justice or that
involvesdishonesty,fraud, deceit,or misrepresentationto acourt:

6.11 Disbarmentis generally appropriatewhen a lawyer, with the intent to
deceive the court, makes a false statement,submits a false document,or
improperly withholds material information, and causesserious or potentially
serious injury to a party, orcausesa significant orpotentially significantadverse
effect on the legal proceeding.

6.12 Suspensionis generally appropriatewhen a lawyer knows that false
statementsor documentsare being submitted to the Court or that material
information is improperly being withheld, and takes no remedial action, and
causesinjury or potential injury to a partyto the legal proceeding,or causesan
adverseorpotentiallyadverse effecton thelegal proceeding.

6.13 Reprimandis generallyappropriatewhen a lawyeris negligent either in
determiningwhetherstatements or documents are falseor in taking remedial
actionwhen materialinformationis beingwithheld, andcauses injury orpotential
injury to a party to the legal proceeding, orcausesan adverseor potentially
adverseeffect on thelegal proceeding.

The majority rejects Standard6.1 as the governing guidelineon the ostensiblebasisthat
Mr. Stefanisviolation of MRPC 4.1 involves false statementsto a thirdpersonother than the

Court. Mr. Stefanisconduct did indeedviolate MRPC 4.1, but the Panelalso held that his
conduct violated MRPC8.4(a)-(c)and MCR9.104(A)(1)-(4),which encompass conductdirected
to atribunal. Seee.g., MRPC 8.4 (conductthat is prejudicial to the administrationofjustice);
MCR 9.1040)(conductprejudicial to the properadministrationof justice). In this regard, I
note that the majority does not cite to the record forits conclusory assertion that[t]he termsof
the SettlementAgreement were not approvedby the Court, which simply issuedan order of
dismissalof the Brown/Nelthropecase on the parties representationthat the casehad been
settled. Discipline Report at 7, fn 4. In fact, at the misconduct hearing,Mr. Stefani
affirmatively testWed thattheparties appeared beforeJudge Callahan to placetile settlement
on the recordbecausethats what theJudgewanted thepartiesto do:

Q. And thenas I think we alreadysaid, on December15th, the underlying
cases wereofficially concluded when theparties all appearedbefore Judge
Callahanto place a settlement onthe recordand advisehim that the agreements
hadall been concluded;is that correct?
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A. We went on December15th to placethe settlementon the record because

thejudgecalled us and wanted usto do that.

Q. This was JudgeCallahan,theoriginal trial judge; correct?

A. Yes. And this was after thecase was settledand, in fact, we were all
surprised,we never expectedto hearfrom him again. And I remember those guys

calling me andsaying,Hey.whatsthis about? Doyou know whyhescalling us?

Tr. 2/7/11 at 149-150.

It is apparent that the Judge wascalling the parties intoCourt becausehe wantedto
make apublic recordof how this very contentiousand highly publicizedcasewas resolved. In
my view, enteringinto a settlementagreementon the premise that the textmessageswill be kept
confidential,misrepresenting the termsof the settlementto the Court by failing to disclose the
agreementto concealthe text messages,while knowing the textmessageshad been handedover
to the DetroitFreePressfor publication,constitutes misconductthat is both seriousin natureand
highly injurious to the parties, theCourt, and to the administrationof justice. By omitting any
mentionof the text messages,Mr. Stefani intentionally hid the text messagesfrom the very
Judge who ordered thatany text messagesproduced in responseto the SkyTel subpoenabe
delivered directlyto him for in camera review. Mr. Stefanideceivedthe Courtanddeliberately
misstatedthe termsofthesettlement.

Mr. Stefani, in my view, by his conduct, has dishonored the legal professionand

underminedpublic confidencein the integrity andhonestyof lawyers. If we overlook,minimize
or excuseMr. Stefanisconduct, thepublic shouldbe rightfully skeptical of our professions
ability to policeitself Underno circumstanceshouldthe sanction we impose countenance such
conduct.

Further, it mustbe rememberedthat Mr. Stefanisconduct occurred within the contextof
a facilitation that had been orderedby the Court to resolvethe attorney feeissue. Tr. 2/7/11at
94, 107. Both the counselfor the GrievanceAdministrator and Mr. Stefani acknowledged
Standard6.1 as theapplicableABA Standard. And, as the majorityadmits,Appendix ito the
ABA Standards linksStandard6.1 to conduct thatviolatesRule 4.1 ofthe ABA Model Rules of
Professional Conduct,upon whichMRPC 4.1 is based. In my view, Standard6.1 is the guideline
we shouldlook to in determining the appropriate disciplineto be appliedin this case.20

20 Standard6.1 is broaderin scopethen the majorityassumes.It is not limited to circumstances

involving misconductdirectedtoward aCourt. It is triggeredby two alternativecircumstances:
conductthat is prejudicialto the administrationof justiceor that involves dishonesty,fraud,
deceit, or misrepresentation to acourt. The first prong— conductthat is prejudicial to the
administration of justice — need notbe directedto a court. Seee.g., In the Disciplinary

Matter InvolvingJamesJ Han/on, 110 P3d 937, 942 (2005) (applying Standard6.1 to findings
thatrespondent made false statementsand submittedfalsedocumentswith an intent to deceivea
client and the Bar);In the Matter of David G Davies, 2001 Ariz. LEXIS 211 at *9 (Dec. 12,
2001)(applyingStandard6.1 to an attorneywho wrote himself into the will of a client who also
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The sanctionsprescribedby ABA Standard6.1 consider whether the misconduct was
intentional (6.11), knowing (6.12) or negligent (6.13), For the purposeof applying ABA
Standard5.1, the majority concludes thatMr. Stefanisconduct wasknowing and not intentional.
The majorityfinds that theABA definitions of intent andknowledge are notparticularlyhelpfiui.
I disagree. The ABA standardsdefine intent as the consciousobjective or purposeto
accomplish aparticular result. Knowledge is defined as the conscious awarenessof the
natureor attendantcircumstancesof the conduct but without the conscious objective or purpose
to accomplish aparticularresult. Although weconcludedin the Misconduct Reportthat, for
purposesof the violations there asserted,Mr. Stefanisconduct wasknowing, we also pointed
out that he had engagedin a purposeful courseof conduct designedto maneuverthe other
parties toward this result. InourMisconduct Report, weexplained:

Even aside from Mr. Stefanis admissions, an objective view of the record

demonstratesthat Mr. Stefani was not jesting when he claimed to have
maneuveredthe defendantsinto settling the caseby letting them believe the
text messageswould bekept confidential. Id. at 146. A calculated schemeto
createthis false impressionis apparent.

The first stepwas to subpoenathetext messageswithout giving timely notice to
defendantsor the Court, an admitted violation of the Court rules. Then Mr.
Stefani specifieddelivery of the text messagesdirectly to his office, despite a
Courtorder requiringthat they be producedto the Court.Upon receiptof the text
messages,Mr. Stefani gave a copyto the FreePressandexcerpted references in a
supplementalbrief on attorney fees.Mr. Stefani then provided the supplemental
brief to Mr. McCargo alone, creating the impression thatMr. McCargo could
decide whetherand with whom the textmessageswould be shared.Then there
was the promise to holdoff filing - and to not file at all - if a global resolution
couldbe reached.In draftingthe settlementagreement,Mr. Stefani agreed to put
teeth into the promiseofprospectiveconfidentiality,an empty gesturegiven the
retrospective disclosure thathad alreadybeenmade. Mr. Stefanispartial answer
to whereare they furthered theillusion by falsely assuring defendants that the
text messageshad beensecured.This was followedby Mr. Stefanisretrievalof
theFreePressdisk (an utterly futile act givenMr. Stefanisfailure to determine
whether a copyhad beenmade), the illusory escrow arrangement, and the truly

happenedto be a close personalfriend); Statewide Grievance Committee vFountain, 743 A2d
647. 652 (Conn.2000) (citing Standard6.1 with respectto a respondent who forged the signature
of an affiant, notarized theaffidavit, and forwarded it to opposing counselin an arbitration
proceeding);Florida Bar v Machin,635 So2d938, 939-940 (Fla1994) (finding that an attempt
to buy a victims silence at asentencinghearing byoffering a trust to the victims child is
prejudicial to the administrationof justice and also referring to Standard6.1). Standard6.1 is
within the categoryof standardsentitled6.0 Violations ofDuties Owedto the LegalSystem.I
thereforedisagree with the majority regarding the extentto which Standard6.1 canbe applied to
conduct other than misrepresentation to atribunal.
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ironic redraftingof the settlementagreementto insulatethe text messagesfrom a
possibleFreePressFOTA request. As to the latter point,Mr. Stefanitestified:

[S]ince I alreadyknewthat theFree Pressor felt very strongly the
Free Press wasgoing to do a storyabout theMayorsperjury, I saw
no harm in going alongwith the changeand, of course,by doing
that it allowedmy clients and meto getpaid... Id at 143.

Misconduct Report at 14-15. In my view, Mr. Stefanis conduct clearly demonstratesa
conscious objective or purpose toaccomplisha particular result, potentially invoking the
disciplinaryrecommendationof Standard6.11. However, I am satisfied that the mental stateand
criteria of Standard6.12 more closely address the misconduct atissue here. In fact, the
commentaryto Standard6.12 cites as anexamplewithin its scopea caseinvolving a lawyerwho
failed to disclose to theCourt or to opposingcounselthe fact that he had previously conveyed
propertythat was the subjectof a settlementto someoneelse,referencingIn re Nigohosian,442
A2d 1007(1982).

Suspensionis the presumptive sanction for misconduct addressedby Standard6.12 and is
theappropriatesanction here.As we expressedin the Misconduct Report. while providing the
public with accessto information regardingMr. Kilpatricks misdeeds was alaudablegoal, Mr.
Stefaniwas not empoweredto disregardhis professional ethicalobligations in the process. We
cannotcountenance the stepsMr. Stefani took to misrepresent theconfidential statusof thetext
messagesso a settlement couldbe reachedand to then mislead the Court asto the settlement
terms. At this disciplinary stageof theproceeding,we cannot overlook, excuse, orminimize Mr.
Stefanisconduct. The sanction we prescribe must be commensurate with theseriousnessof his
misconduct. We must remain cognizantof our purposeto discipline misconductfor the
protectionofthepublic, thecourts,andthe legal profession.MCR 9.105(A).

I would therefore impose a90-daysuspension for the misconductfoundin this case. See
e.g., GrievanceAdministrator v George T. Krupp, Case No. 96-287-GA (April 4, 2002)
(imposing a 90-day suspensionwhere respondent,in representingthat a letter presented to the
Court and to opposingcounsel was writtenby his clients psychiatrist, violatedrespondents
obligation to betruthful to the tribunalandto opposing counsel).Against the90-daysuspension,
I would credit 30 days for the timeof suspension alreadyservedin Stefani L I do not find this
result changed by theprofferedaggravatingandmitigating factors. On theonehand,onewould
expectthat Mr. Stefanismany years in the practiceof law, particularlyas a litigator, wouldhave
taughthim how greatlythe judicial system dependsuponthe honestyand integrity of lawyersto
reach a fair andjust result,and why ethical behavior mustbe unwavering.If Mr. Stefanihad in
fact learnedthis over theyears,he intentionally disregarded it whenhe pushedasidethe second
thoughtshe admittedhaving. Thereis, however,no evidenceof a patternof misconductor of
multiple offenses arising outof different matters. Remorse,by contrast,only came later after

reading the findingofmisconduct.Tr. 2/8/12 at 20-24. Throughout the misconduct proceedings,
Mr. Stefani was staunchly un-repentingand was disrespectfulto the lawyer for the Attorney
GrievanceAdministrator. On the otherhand, Mr. Stefani is generally consideredto be a very
capablelawyerand is well thoughtof, andI accept the fact thathis motivation here was, at least
in part, to inform the public of the Mayorscriminal behavior. Again, a goal which is laudable.
Noneof these factors,however,alter the proprietyof a 90-daysuspension.
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I do not find that reprimandis an appropriate sanction.If Standard5.1, rather than
Standard6.1, were held toapply, I would find in the exerciseof my independent judgment under
Lopatin that the selected ABAstandarddoes not (for the reasonsexpressedabove)adequately
considerthe natureandeffectof the misconduct.2

21 I will forgo discussionof other points in the majority opinion that could beaddressedbecause

it does notseemfruitful to do so atthis time.
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